UNCLASSIFIED

AD NUMBER

AD844075

NEW LIMITATION CHANGE

TO

Approved for public release, distribution unlimited

FROM

Distribution authorized to U.S. Gov't. agencies and their contractors; Critical Technology; JUL 1968. Other requests shall be referred to Naval Weapons Center, China Lake, CA 93555.

AUTHORITY

Naval Weapons Center ltr dtd 24 Mar 1972

THIS PAGE IS UNCLASSIFIED

D844075

A LITERATURE REVIEW AND DISCUSSION OF LIQUID PARTICLE BREAKUP IN GAS STREAMS

By

Victor G. Forsnes Mechanical Engineering Department Brigham Young University Provo, Utah

and

Richard D. Ulrich Propulsion Development Department

ABSTRACT. The literature relating to droplet breakup in gas streams moving with relative velocity to the particles has been surveyed and reviewed. This report contains a brief discussion of breakup mechanisms followed by an annotated bibliography of the pertinent references. Included also is a general list of references giving background to the subject.

1968 DEC 4

52



NAVAL WEAPONS CENTER CHINA LAKE, CALIFORNIA + JULY 1968

93.5.5.5

DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT

THIS DOCUMENT IS SUBJECT TO SPECIAL EXPORT CONTROLS AND EACH TRANSMITTAL TO FOREIGN GOVERNMENTS OR FOREIGN NATIONALS MAY BE MADE ONLY WITH PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE NAVAL WEAPONS CENTER.

NAVAL WEAPONS CENTER AN ACTIVITY OF THE NAVAL MATERIAL COMMAND

FOREWORD

This document is a portion of a Master of Science thesis presented in June 1965, to the Mechanical Engineering Department, Brigham Young University, Provo, Utah, by Victor G. Forsnes. The work was sponsored by the U. S. Naval Ordnance Test Station (now Naval Weapons Center), China Lake, California, under Contract Number N123-(60530)51867A. The investigative effort was conducted during the period September 1964 to June 1965.

Released by H. P. JENKINS, JR., Head Advanced Technology Division June 1968 Under authority of G. W. LEONARD, Head Propulsion Development Department

NWC Technical Publication 4589

| n , ite Suft | s & ion Section | | |
|-----------------|---------------------|-------------|-------------------|
| sofi | SECTION | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| NP#11,76 | RAT S | 0066 | |
| / <u>1</u> | ar SPE | CTAL | |
| | | | |
| | AMBH 76 1 1. Jac | APPRAENTY C | APPREFRICTY CODES |

ii

CONTENTS

| Introduction | 1 |
|---|----|
| General Discussion of Droplet Breakup | 1 |
| Breakup Criteria References | 3 |
| Annotated Bibliography | 8 |
| Trienbnigg's Estimate of Critical Size (1925) | 8 |
| Free Fall Breakup of Large Drops: Magarvey and | |
| Taylor (1956) | 8 |
| Raindrop Size, Shape, and Falling Speed: Spilhaus (1948) | 10 |
| The Shape and Aerodynamics of Large Raindrops: | |
| MacDonald (1948) | 11 |
| Critical Speeds and Sizes of Liquid Globules: Hinze (1949) | 11 |
| On The Disintegration of Drops in an Airstream: Dodd (1960) | 14 |
| The Mechanics of Drops: Hughes and Gilliand (1952) | 16 |
| Theoretical Studies of Mechanisms in the Atomization of | |
| Liquids: Peskin and Lawler (1962) | 18 |
| Atomization in High Velocity Airstreams: Weiss and | |
| Worsham (1959) | 19 |
| Mechanism and Speed of Breakup of Drops: Gordon (1959) | 20 |
| Critical Conditions for Drop and Jet Shattering: | |
| Morrell (1962) | 22 |
| Shatter of Drops in Streams of Air: Lane (1951) | 24 |
| Shock Tube Investigation of the Breakup of Drops by Air | |
| Blasts: Hanson, Domich, and Adams (1963) | 25 |
| Fragmentation of Waterdrops in the Zone Behind an Air | |
| Shock: Engel (1958) | 27 |
| The Motion and Shattering of Burning and Non-Burning | |
| Propellant Droplets: Rabin and Lawhead (1959) | 28 |
| Displacement and Shattering of Propellant Droplets Final | |
| Summary Report: Rabin, Schallenmuller, and Lawhead (1960) | 30 |
| Kinetics, Mechanism, and Resultant Sizes of the Aerodynamic | |
| Breakup of Liquid Drops: Wolfe and Anderson (1964) | 32 |
| References | 36 |
| Nomenclature | 39 |
| Bibliography | 41 |

Č,

「「「「「「「「「「」」」」

and the second

iii

日本できたちに見たいやくしょう

いたのでものないであっていたかで

1

INTRODUCTION

The atomization of a liquid by an air stream has been an item of much concern in the past, and there have been numerous experimental studies of the process made in an effort to correlate liquid and airstream physical properties into a general model which will predict the degree of, and the time required for, atomization for a given physical situation. The breakup of liquid drops finds application in various areas: in the field of meteorology, the formation breakup, and shape of raindrops is an item of much concern; in the field of internal combustion engines, the carburization of a fuel is of major importance; in the industrial field, the atomization of paint and insecticides and spray drying processes are objects of concern; in the chemical industries, the emulsification of liquid-liquid systems, the formation of froths, the production of aerosols, and dispersion processes, in general, are most important considerations; and in the science of rheology, wherein the motion and dispersion of liquids, gases, and solids must take into consideration various breakup mechanisms. Despite the importance of such liquid atomization processes, there has been little theoretical work done in an effort to mathematically correlate the important variables and parameters common to all breakup and dispersion processes.

The applications of the subject of liquid droplet breakup have been greatly multiplied with the advent of the importance of the rocket engine and the supersonic aircraft. The study of rocket combustion instability, the sustaining of a detonation wave in a gas stream, the impingement of liquid particles on a supersonic aircraft, and the erosion and ablation of materials used in the construction of rockets and aircraft are but a few of the most important fields of application of droplet breakup in modern technology.

With the importance of the interaction of solid-gas, liquid-gas, and liquid-liquid systems in mind, this study was undertaken to review the existing literature on the general subject and on the droplet shattering mechanisms in particular, and to attempt to discover the correlations and/or the discrepancies in the existent theories of droplet shattering.

GENERAL DISCUSSION OF DROPLET BREAKUP

Because of the irregularity of the shape of a liquid drop undergoing a given breakup process, it is very difficult to describe the surface configuration by means of a mathematical expression. Since many of the parameters upon which the breakup process is dependent are themselves a function of the shape of the droplet, the mathematical complexity of the problem of adequately describing breakup criteria is manifoldly increased.

When a droplet falls through a stagnant medium under the influence only of gravity, the shape of the droplet is significantly influenced by the surface tension forces, the hydrostatic forces within the droplet, the shape-dependent aerodynamic forces, internal and surface circulation of the fluid droplet, the natural and induced internal droplet vibrations, the centrifugal and coriolis effects of the radial outflow and inflow of liquid, the viscosities of the liquid and the medium through which it is falling, electrostatic charge on the surface of the droplet, the effect of boundary layer separation at some point and under some complex conditions, the shedding of vortices from the windward side of the droplet as it falls, and even the diameter of the droplet itself. To attempt to correlate the effects of all of these variables into a single mathematical expression would be a formidable, if not impossible, task.

When the drop can no longer be assumed to merely be falling through a stagnant medium, but is instead subjected to cross flows, shock waves, turbulence effects of the free steam, interaction with other particles undergoing breakup, indeterminate velocity lag between the particle and the free stream, wall effects, and uncertain physical parameters of the gas stream and the droplet itself, phase change or chemical reactions all add to the complexity of the problem.

There exists an entire spectrum of modes of droplet breakup. At the extremes of this spectrum exist the modes of breakup known respectively as "bag" and "shear" breakup. The process of bag breakup of a liquid droplet can be explained in the following manner. As a liquid droplet is subjected to a relative gas flow, the droplet deforms into roughly an ellipsoidal shape, with the major axis of the ellipsoid perpendicular to the direction of flow. The deformation of the droplet can also be described as a general flattening and radial outflow of the droplet in the directions perpendicular to the direction of flow. The resulting deformation at this point has been called at various times by authors disk-shaped, saucer-shaped, and roughly toroidal-shaped. As the deformation continues, the center portion of the droplet begins further deformation in the direction of the relative flow velocity, which process has been variously called "inflation", "opening of the bag", and opening "like a parachute". At this point the droplet appears as a thin film of liquid, anchored to a heavier rim of liquid around the circumference of the droplet and stretched in the flow direction until the bag is several times larger than either the original droplet or the existing circumferential ring of liquid. When some critical condition occurs, the bag breaks up into a shower of fine droplets and the rim disintegrates into several larger droplets.

A description of shear breakup is as follows. As in the case of bag breakup, the droplet deforms, but in the case of shear breakup the deformation has been most generally described as "lenticular", with the major axis of the lens perpendicular to the direction of the

3

relative velocity between the droplet and the air stream. As the radial outflow of liquid proceeds, a liquid film is stripped from the extreme circumferential edge of the droplet. This film is rapidly broken into ligaments or segments, which, in turn, form under the action of surface tension into drops much smaller than the original drop. When the relative velocity is high enough, the stripping action from the parent drop appears as a shower of droplets being torn from the edge of the drop.

The two extreme breakup mechanisms have many times been observed in the photographic record of droplet breakup. The two breakup mechanisms have been called extreme because there also exists ample photographic evidence to substantiate the claims that droplet breakup occurs by a combined bag and shear mechanisms. Thus, it is seen that an adequate mathematical model would have to take into consideration, and also be able to predict, the two different modes of breakup which might occur due to some combination of the physical parameters of the gas stream and the liquid droplet.

Although the spectrum of droplet breakup mechanisms, running from shear breakup at one extreme to bag breakup at the other, has many times been photographically observed, there yet exists in the literature no definite criteria to predict which breakup mode will occur for a given combination of liquid and gas stream physical parameters. It also seems apparent that no all-inclusive parameters have yet been discovered to determine, for a given physical situation, the droplet breakup time, the critical droplet diameter for a given relative velocity, or the critical relative velocity for a given droplet diameter.

BREAKUP CRITERIA REFERENCES

With regard to droplet breakup criteria, Bond and Newton (Ref. 1) predicted that a droplet would break up when the Bond number of the given droplet-gas stream flow situation reached a critical value, experimentally found to be from eight to twelve. Gordon (Ref. 2) attempted to define a mathematical model wherein a cylindrical plug was extruded from the droplet undergoing breakup, and he stated that breakup occurred when the length of the plug extrusion reached a certain critical value. Dodd (Ref. 3) assumed that bag breakup of a liquid droplet occurred when a sphere of minimum diameter was inscribed inside the bag of the droplet undergoing bag breakup. He assumed the diameter of this sphere to be approximately twice the original undistorted diameter of the drop. Hinze (Ref. 4), in the first classical mathematical treatment of droplet breakup, postulated the existence of a critical Weber number to determine the conditions of breakup. This critical Weber number was different for drops subjected to either rapid step changes in relative velocity or for slow, steadily-increasing values of the relative velocity between the gas stream and the drop. The value of the critical Weber number also varied depending on whether the drop had either small or large viscosity. Hinze did not consider cases of intermediate droplet viscosity.

4

Morrel (Ref. 5) stated that the breakup of a jet and the breakup of a liquid droplet occurred in approximately the same manner and under the influence of approximately the same mechanism. Applying the results of some of his previous work in the field of jet breakup (Ref. 6), he stated that for snear breakup, the critical condition was a given constant value of $\rho_g U^2_{avg}$ over the surface of the droplet. In an experimental work, Lane (Ref. 7) theorized that breakup of a liquid droplet in a flowing airstream would occur at $U^2d = \text{constant}$. From this criteria he deduced that drops as large as five microns can withstand a sonic relative velocity without breaking up. In his experimental work he also found that there was a lower critical velocity for what he termed the transient flow case (a step change in relative velocity) than for the flow case of a constantly increasing velocity.

Hanson, et al., (Ref. 8) found in their experimental work that they could deduce no critical Weber number value to correlate their experimental droplet breakup results. Their major contribution was that the critical relative velocity depended upon the one-third power of the surface tension of the liquid droplet. Engel (Ref. 9) experimentally discovered many facts important to the field of droplet breakup. She found that it was the flow duration behind a shock wave that had the critical effect in determining breakup time and other critical breakup parameters. Flow duration is defined as the time that the flow or velocity increase behind the shock wave persists at a point after the shock wave has passed that given point. By examination of the photographic record of the experimental program, she was also able to conclude that shear breakup was not due to the vaporization of the liquid droplet, the mechanism which had been earlier suggested though never formally presented in the literature, but that shear breakup was "of mechanical origin". She also found plausibility for the statements that shear breakup was due to the rupture of crests of surface waves on the droplet, the spilling off into the gas stream of the moving boundary layer of the liquid drop, and the action of the vortices on the downstream face of the droplet. These vortices stripped fluid from the surface of the drop as they were shed into the flow stream.

Weiss and Worsham (Ref. 10), in an effort to empirically correlate the variables affecting droplet breakup, discovered that the relative velocity between the droplet and the air stream had the greatest effect in determining the critical breakup parameters. Magarvey and Taylor (Ref. 11) attempted to correlate droplet breakup parameters by formulating a droplet "deformation index". Their only conclusion, however, was that the droplet broke up when the hydrostatic pressure on the windward face of the drop at the stagnation point was greater than 440 dynes/cm².

Elzinga (Ref. 12) postulated the existence of a breakup mechanism which stated that droplet breakup may occur when the natural period of vibration of the liquid drop corresponds to the frequency of the

5

shedding of vortices from the leeward face of the droplet. However, with regard to the drop vibration breakup criteria postulated by Elzinga and also by Peskin and Lawler (Ref. 13), Magarvey and Taylor (Ref. 11) stated that in the free-fall of liquid drops the breakup process was not triggered by the internal vibration of the droplet. Lane (Ref. 7) and Hanson (Ref. 8) also stated that internal droplet vibration did not trigger discover. Rabin, et al., (Ref. 14) concluded from their experimental work that neither the bag nor shear breakup mechanism could be explained on the basis of the drop vibrational period.

In a more recent work, Rabin and Lawhead (Ref. 14), and Rabin, Schallenmuller, and Lawhead (Ref. 15), have, as had been done prior, postulated the existence of a critical breakup velocity strongly dependent upon the flow duration behind the shork wave intersecting the plane of the droplet. They also suggested, but never attempted to verify, that droplet breakup might correlate on the basis of the total impulse acting on the windward face of the droplet. They also concluded, after attempting to correlate their experimental results on the basis of a constant Weber number, that the theory of a constant critical Weber number for determining breakup conditions was inadequate. The best Weber number criterion that they could infer was that droplet breakup occurred at a critical value of a Weber number which was a function of the droplet diameter. They also refuted the work of Lane (Ref. 7), who postulated that the shear breakup of a drop was synorymous to transient flow conditions. They accomplished this by discovering that transient breakup was a time-controlled process but that shear breakup was time-independent.

In the latest available work on the mechanism and process of droplet breakup, Wolfe and Anderson (Ref. 16) have shed new light on the subject by insisting that droplet breakup cannot be correlated on the basis of dimensionless parameters, but that droplet breakup is a rate process, and therefore, the theory of absolute reaction rates from kinetic theory must be applied to the physical variables affecting the breakup of a droplet. They have stated that the method of equating the surface tension forces to determine critical breakup parameters is not valid for systems where the variation of gas stream parameters is of the order of variations which occur across a shock wave.

There has also been some experimental and theoretical work do' a in an effort to delineate between the conditions which lead to bag and shear breakup. Hanson, et al., (Ref. 8) found that the only criteria they could determine which would differentiate between the two modes of breakup was that shear breakup always occurred for velocities greatly in excess of the critical velocity for a given droplet diameter. Morrell (Ref. 5) argued that bag breakup occurred if the time to which the droplet was subjected to a relative velocity change was in excess of the natural period of oscillation of the liquid droplet, and that shear breakup occurred if the action time was less than the natural period of

C 13114 1970 1970

the droplet. Hanson, et al., (Ref. 8) however, found bag breakup to occur even if the action time was less than the natural period. Rabin, et al., (Ref. 14) stated that the mode of breakup was strongly dependent upon the flow duration behind the shock wave; shear breakup occurring for longer flow durations and bag breakup for shorter flow durations. They also discovered that for velocities much in excess of the critical velocity for a given drop, shear breakup always occurred. This finding supported that of Hanson. Another of their general conclusions was, that for all ranges of variables considered, shear breakup and short breakup times occurred more frequently with the larger drops tested, and that the smaller drops more frequently exhibited bag breakup.

In their experimental work, Wolfe and Anderson (Ref. 16) found that for low relative velocities, bag breakup usually occurred; whereas, for high relative velocities, shear breakup was usually the mode of breakup observed. They also noticed that there existed a smooth transition from one type of breakup to another as the flow variables were varied; and that the transition was equally smooth from bag breakup to shear breakup as it was for shear breakup to bag breakup. One point of interest of their report, regarding the criteria of flow duration behind a shock wave, was that the drop could not know what the flow duration was to be and thus what frontal shape it was to assume before breakup.

Thus, it appears, that for the general case of a given droplet subjected to a given set of physical parameters describing a flow situation, there exists no tried and proven method of determing which mode of droplet breakup -- bag, shear, or some combination of the two -will occur. Since, however, a mixture of modes can and does appear, pershaps the item of concern is not in describing the mode or mixture of modes that will occur for a given situation, but in describing instead the interplay of physical parameters which lead to a certain breakup time, and thus, a certain mode of breakup.

The time required for droplet breakup is also the subject of much debate in the literature. Hinze's classical work (Ref. 4) stated that breakup times were different depending upon whether the droplet was of very high or very low viscosity. Engel (Ref. 9) concluded that the breakup time was inversely proportional to the strength of the shock intersecting the droplet, directly proportional to the initial diameter of the droplet, and that the change in Mach number, indicative of the change in the strength of the shock wave, is of greater effect in reducing the breakup time than is a change in the initial diameter of the droplet.

Gordon (Ref. 2) found that for droplets of low viscosity, the breakup time was directly proportional to the initial diameter of the drop and inversely proportional to the relative velocity between the drop and gas stream. For drops of high viscosity, the breakup time was found to be independent of the initial diameter and inversely

7

proportional to the relative velocity. The experimental results of Wolfe and Anderson (Ref. 16) agreed most closely with those of Gordon. This result might infer that the breakup time is very much dependent upon the viscosity and the relative velocity, and not so critically dependent upon the other physical variables. This result can only be inferred, however, since it is not exactly known the range of variables other than viscosity and relative velocity that were tested.

It is of interest and concern to note the effect of a shock front on a liquid droplet. Upon examination of the photographic record of their experimental efforts, Engel (Ref. 9), Rabin and Lawhead (Ref. 14), and Wolfe and Anderson (Ref. 16) have all concluded that a liquid droplet is not broken up by the presence or interaction of the shock front, but by the flow regime behind the shock front.

The physical properties which have been given the most attention regarding the basic breakup processes are the viscosity and surface tension of the liquid droplet, and the drag coefficient of the particle in the gas stream. Wolfe and Anderson (Ref. 16) have found that the effect of viscosity is to retard the deformation process as the viscosity increases, and that the resultant droplet sizes after breakup were increased as the viscosity of the tested fluids increased. Higher breakup times were also measured at higher viscosities. Gordon (Ref. 2) likewise found that an increase in fluid viscosity tended to retard droplet breakup processes. He also concluded that viscous effects within the droplet tended to dominate the other physical parameters. Lane (Ref. 7) found that the viscosity affected the breakup process only if it was very high. Hanson, et al., (Ref. 8) stated that the viscosity of the liquid droplet affected breakup time only if the viscosity was high and the diameter of the droplet undergoing breakup was low.

Hughes and Gilliand (Ref. 17) postulated that the drag coefficient was a function of the Reynolds' number, a surface tension parameter, an acceleration parameter, a gravity parameter, the ratio of the liquid and gas densities, and the ratio of the liquid and gas velocities. Ingebo (Ref. 18) showed that for the Reynolds' number range of one to one hundred, the drag coefficient was less than one (1.0) for clouds of solid spheres, clouds of evaporating spheres, and clouds of nonevaporating spheres. Rabin, et al., (Ref. 15) verified this value in their experimental program. Wolfe and Anderson (Ref. 16) expressed concern, in their work, over the uncertainty of the drag coefficient. Carlson (Ref. 19), in deriving an empirical expression for the drag coefficient, found that for flow regimes "such as occur in solid propellant rocket exhausts, " the drag coefficient approached one (1.0) as the Reynolds' number exceeded one hundred. Way and Nicholls (Ref. 20) found that there was a general decrease in drag coefficient for a burning particle, but their work was primarily for a spherical, undeformed particle for a Reynolds' number range of one hundred to one thousand. The drag coefficient did decrease as the Reynolds' number increased.

Regarding the effect of surface tension on the breakup process and parameters, Adam (Ref. 21) stated that an increase in pressure surrounding a liquid drop caused a decrease in surface tension, and the surface tension increased as the radius of the liquid drop decreased. Semenchenko (Ref. 22) wrote that there was a general decrease in surface tension of liquid metals with increase in temperature. Rabin, et al., (Ref. 15) concluded that the surface tension was lower for burning droplets than for non-burning ones, and that this might be due to the vaporphase burning of the droplet. Hinze (Ref. 4) theorized that the critical breakup velocity for a given droplet diameter was proportional to the one-half power of the surface tension, but Hanson, et al., (Ref. 8) stated that this dependence was surface tension raised to the one-third power. Rabin and Lawhead (Ref. 14) could make no differentiation between the exponents upon examination of their data.

It is concluded, then, that the difficulty in determing the exact effect of physical parameters upon the breakup conditions is a major obstacle in the attempts made to define an adequate mathematical model of droplet breakup. It is also difficult to definitely ascertain just when the droplet has broken up when a sequence of photographs of the breakup process is examined.

ANNOTATED BIBLIOGRAPHY

TRIENBNIGG'S ESTIMATE OF CRITICAL SIZE (1925)

Trienbnigg (Ref. 23) estimated the critical size at which a droplet would breakup at a given relative velocity by merely equating the average air pressure on the face of the droplet, assuming that this pressure constituted the total flow resistance of the droplet, to the surface tension pressure of the spherical droplet, or

$$(1/2)C_{D}O_{g}U^{2} = \frac{2\sigma}{R_{D}}$$

がために非常なななので、「ない」のないで、

He assumed a spherical shape for the droplet falling at a terminal velocity through the air with no pressure variation around the perimeter of the droplet. This equation was possibly the first attempt to estimate the critical parameters of droplet breakup.

FREE FALL BREAKUP OF LARGE DROPS: MAGARVEY AND TAYLOR (1956)

The authors of this paper (Ref. 11), in describing an experimental study of the free fall breakup of rain drops, have dealt heavily with the mechanism of breakup and the resultant droplet size distribution after breakup.

9

a conclusion of the

In an experimental effort designed to discover a reliable breakup criterion, the authors used an index of deformation and a hydrostatic pressure deformation as a plot of the ratio of minor axis diameter over major axis diameter (assuming a spheroidal shape) versus an equivalent droplet diameter. The hydrostatic pressure at the lower surface of the droplet was then determined by a measurement of terminal droplet velocity. This attempt to discover a reliable breakup criterion, howsver, resulted only in the conclusion that when the hydrostatic pressure reached 440 dynes/cm² and the deformation index was less than 0.3, the droplet would break up. Severe difficulty in accurately measuring the terminal velocity (and thus the hydrostatic pressure), because of droplet instabilities, led to the failure to establish a reliable criterion.

The photographic evidence of the authors distinctly showed a bag breakup occurring in the free-fall conditions. The photographic evidence was interpreted on the basis of a force equilibrium situation. In this force belance, the hydrostatic force in the droplet, just inside the lower surface of the deformed droplet, was equated to the sum of surface tersion pressure and the aerodynamic force at the stagnation point of the droplet. The lower deformed surface of the droplet was assumed to be a plane surface. The variation of the respective magnitudes of these forces, as the drop deformed due to a force imbalance, gave only a qualitative representation of the bag breakup situation. For an increasing velocity, the drop flatterns, the equilibrium conditions cannot be satisfied, and the drop breaks up. This argument was used by the authors in their previous attempts to correlate the breakup parameters. An examination of the equations and the logic underlying each force effect gives a qualitative depiction of the bag breakup process. As the aerodynamic pressure increases so as to overcome the effects of the hydrostatic pressure, a bulge would form on the failing droplet. As the bulge increased, the surface tension effects would again become significant and the hydrostatic pressure would be of lass effect as the droplet began to "inflate". Finally, the aerodynamic forces for a liquid droplet of sufficiently low viscosity and surface tension travelling sufficiently fast would cause the droplet to inflate and ultimately break up. The authors also discussed the possibility of droplet vibration as a means of breakup since this phenomenon had been theorized by others. The experimental evidence showed that the droplet vibrations were confined to a plane perpendicular to the direction of motion and that these vibrations were not a major factor. in the droplet breakup mechanism. Photographic evidence of the resultant droplet size showed that the number of fragments increased with an increase in parent droplet diameter. Actual photographic counts showed that several hundred smaller droplets are often produced from the breakup of a larger drop, and that the bursting of the "canopy of the inflated droplet produced the smallest droplets while the larger fragments were a result of the breakup of the "rim" of the inflated droplet. The vibration nodes, or "lobes", around the rim of the droplet,

never more than four in number according to the photographs, seemed to account for the number of large fragments into which the rim broke up; the number of lobes being equal to the number of large fragments of the rim existing after breakup.

The study concluded that drops as large as twenty millimeters diameter exhibited the characteristics of bag breakup and that smaller droplets exhibited the same breakup mode, but only after a greater fall distance. The authors also stated that a droplet of less than ten millimeters diameter cannot be broken up in a free fall, and that droplet breakup cannot be triggered by internal vibrations of the droplet.

RAINDROP SIZE, SHAPE, AND FALLING SPEED: SPILHAUS (1948)

For the situation of a water raindrop falling at a constant terminal velocity, Spilhaus (Ref. 24) derived expressions relating the surface tension pressure to the serodynamic pressure on a drop (assuming an ellipsoidal drop shape), the terminal velocity of the falling droplet, and the variation of the drag coefficient of the droplet due to droplet deformation. An expression derived by the author gave this variation as

$$C_{D} = C_{0} \left[K - h(K - 1) \right]$$
(1)

where

C₀ = the coefficient of resistance for a sphere (0.21 to 0.3 for the range of Reynolds' numbers concerned)

 $K = C_{fp}/C_0$

C_{fr} = drag coefficient for a flat plate

h * b/a * ratio of major axis to minor axis of the assumed ellipsoidal shape (finaness ratio of the ellipse).

In the derivation of this equation, Spilhaus made a rather significant error. When he calculated the pressure difference due to surface tension pressure for the ellipsoidal cross sectional shape, he assumed that $\Delta p \approx 2\sigma / a$, whereas the correct expression should have been $\Delta p = \sigma(1/a + 1/b)$. This mistake was also noticed by MacDonald (Ref. 25). Hence, the derived expression for the drag coefficient would not correspond to the described physical situation, although it might still be useful since the droplet shape was approximated anyway.

Calculations using Eq. 1, however, for extreme values of the parameters C_0 , C_{fp} , and h give values of C_D for the assumed ellipsoidal drop shape that are much lower (e.g., 30-50%) than the values of C_D

presently being used by authors in the calculation of droplet critical velocities, diameters, and breakup times. This variation from experimental values of C_D may be due to derivation error. Rabin and Lawhead (Ref. 14) in their experimental work have measured drag coefficients for inert and burning droplets that were not in agreement with the values suggested by Spilhaus.

THE SHAPE AND AERODYNAMICS OF LARGE RAINDROPS: MACDONALD (1948)

The author of this paper (Ref. 25) postulated that the equilibrium shape of a large raindrop falling at terminal velocity through an infinite medium is due to surface tension, hydrostatic pressure gradients within the drop, external aerodynamic pressures, electrostatic charges on the drop surfaces, and internal circulation of the drop. By means of an order-of-magnitude argument, he concluded that only the first three effects are significant for large falling raindrops. The equilibrium shape of a falling raindrop is that shape for which the aerodynamic pressure plus the surface tension pressure equals the internal hydrostatic pressure at all points on the droplet surface. The author concluded that the study of photographic evidence clearly indicated that boundary layer separation existed at a point along the droplet surface, and that separation did not favor the production of strong internal vorticular circulation. The major contribution of this paper was the argument by which all pressures on the drop, except the external aerodynamic pressure, the surface tension pressure, and the hydrostatic pressure of the drop, could be neglected in calculating the shape of the falling droplet.

CRITICAL SPEEDS AND SIZES OF LIQUID GLOBULES: HINZE (1949)

The first mathematical effort to explain droplet breakup, Hinze (Ref. 4), stated that a droplet is broken up if the translatory speed of the droplet, relative to the gas stream, exceeded a certain critical value, or, inversely, if at a given speed, the size of the moving droplet is greater than some critical size, the droplet will break up. The theory states that the relative magnitudes of the dynamic pressure force and the surface tension force are the criteria for determining droplet breakup. Combining the dynamic pressure force and surface tension pressure into a dimensionless variable leads to the definition of the Weber number. It is, thus, the relevant value of the Weber number that is used as the breakup criterion in Hinze's theory. The critical value of this Weber number must be experimentally determined.

Hinze assumed skin friction forces can be neglected, in comparison to the velocity pressures of the ambient fluid, when the Reynolds' number is greater than one thousand. Hinze (Ref. 4) considered two different flow situations leading to droplet breakup: (1) the droplet is suddenly being exposed to a gas stream of constant speed, and (2) the droplet is being exposed to a gas flow uniformly increasing in speed from zero to a constant value.

11

without the a with the second

Hinze (Ref. 26) linearized the hydrodynamic equation of the motion of the drop and derived formulae for the slight deformations of a droplet caused only by the normal forces acting on the droplet surface. However, the critical deformation necessary for droplet breakup was much larger than the slight value of deformations permitted by his theory; hence, the deformation theory provided only a theoretical model for the breakup process. Actually, photographic evidence (Ref. 16 and 27) has shown that deformation of the droplet undergoing breakup may deviate substantially from the theoretical value predicted by Hinze. The actual pressure distribution around the surface of the droplet for a Reynolds' number range of 1,000 to 200,000 was approximated assuming an irrotational potential flow.

The maximum of δ/R was given by

$$(\frac{\delta}{R}) \max = -0.17 \frac{\rho_{g} U_{c}^{2} R}{\sigma}$$
(2)
for slight viscosity droplets; i.e., $\frac{\mu_{g}^{2}}{\sigma o_{g} R} \ll 1$

If We = $\rho_g U_c^2 R/\sigma$ reached its critical value (as determined by experiment), the critical value of δ/R can be computed.

For great viscosity effects $({\mu_{\ell}}^2/\sigma\rho_{\ell}R>>1)$ the maximum value of R was given by

$$\left(\frac{\delta}{R}\right)_{\text{max}} = -0.095 \frac{\rho U^2 R}{\sigma}$$
(3)

For the case of a droplet exposed to a gas flow uniformly increasing in speed from zero velocity, the forces initially acting on the droplet were assumed to be primarily viscous tangential forces. However, if the droplet was large enough, (i.e., larger than a few millimeters) the normal pressure forces would dominate as the velocity increased. For this case, the equation of the motion of the droplet was:

$$\frac{dU}{dt} + \frac{3C_{D}}{8R_{D}} \frac{\rho_{g}}{\rho_{1}} = U^{2} = g$$
(4)

Hinze assumed that this equation was applicable during the entire period of falling (continual velocity increase). A solution to Eq. 4 satisfying the boundary conditions (U = 0 at t = 0), and assuming a slight viscosity effect, gives for the maximum deformation:

$$\left(\frac{\delta}{R}\right)_{\max} = -0.095 We_{\max}.$$
 (5)

Here it is seen that for the same $(\delta/R)_{crit}$ the corresponding critical Weber number is much greater for case (b) than case (a). For a great viscosity effect, a similar solution also gave:

$$\left(\frac{\hat{c}}{R}\right)_{\max} = -0.095 We_{\max}.$$
 (6)

In an attempt to estimate the breakup time for a droplet suddenly exposed to a constant velocity air stream, some authors proposed to consider the natural vibrational period of the droplet as a rough measure of the breakup time. In this instance, the breakup time is

$$t_{\rm b} = 0.8\pi \sqrt{\frac{\rho_1 R_{\rm b}^3}{8\sigma}} .$$
 (7)

For most breakup time considerations, however, the gas velocity was very much greater than the critical speed, so that the breakup time was much less than that predicted by Eq. 7. Hinze, neglecting viscosity, derived:

$$t_b \approx 1.15 \frac{R}{U} / \frac{\rho_{\ell}}{\rho_g} \left(-\frac{\delta}{R}\right)_{crit}$$
 (8)

The above expression and the deformation expression were based on an external pressure distribution for actual turbulent flow at high Reynolds' numbers, a state which might not be present at t = 0 (i.e., the flow requires a certain time T to become fully developed). Since only in the case that the breakup time is very much greater than T may Eq. 8 hold true, the time T was estimated from the time needed for the generation of vortices behind the droplet after the inception of flow. This led to a relationahip of the form:

$$\frac{t}{T} \approx \sqrt{\frac{\rho_1}{\rho_g}}$$
(9)

and hence $T \sim R/U$, which is quite large.

For a large viscous effect, small values of the breakup time were estimated by

$$t \approx \frac{10\mu_1}{\rho_g v^2} \quad (\frac{\delta}{R})_{crit} \tag{10}$$

which is independent of droplet size. This result holds only for small breakup times at large Weber numbers and for great viscous effects.

ON THE DISINTEGRATION OF DROPS IN AN AIRSTREAM: DODD (1960)

Dodd (Ref. 3) developed a theory to predict the distortion and disintegration of a water drop which was exposed to an airstream of continuously increasing relative velocity. Assuming that a spherical droplet was distorted roughly into a lenticular shape by the aerodynamic forces, Dodd assumed a relative velocity between the droplet and the airstream low enough in magnitude to assure a bag-breakup mechanism. He also assumed the existence of a non-uniform pressure distribution around the surface of the sphere that is described by the experimental work of Hinze to be:

$$P = \rho_{g} U^{2} (9 \cos^{2} \phi - 5) / 8 \text{ for } 0 \ge \phi \ge \frac{\pi}{3}$$

$$P = -11 \rho_{g} U^{2} / 32 \quad \text{for } -\frac{\pi}{3} \le \phi \le \pi$$
(11)

where

 ϕ = angular distance from the stagnation point of the sphere. Dodd examined the work of Lane, whose efforts led to the following critical condition for droplet disintegration:

$$d(U)^2 = constant,$$
 (12)

Dodd postulated the following breakup theory. As the relative velocity was increased, the drop deformed into the shape shown in Fig. 1 for bag-breakup conditions.



FIG. 1. Drop Deformation as Postulated by Dodd.

Drawing a dotted sphere through the forming "bag", he contended that the critical velocity for bursting is that velocity which makes the radius of this circle a minimum. He assumed that the equation:

$$p_{i} - p_{o} = c_{1} \rho_{g} u^{2}$$
 (13)

where

 p_{f} = pressure inside the bag and

 p_{o} = pressure just outside the bag

held for all stages of bag breakup. By equating the pressure difference between the inside and outside surfaces of the bag to the surface tension pressure, he obtained:

$$\mathbf{p}_{i} - \mathbf{p}_{o} = 4\sigma/\mathbf{r}. \tag{14}$$

Combining Eq. 12, 13, and 14, he obtained:

$$r v^2 = 4\sigma/c_1 \rho_g . \tag{15}$$

If r is the minimum radius of the bag (inscribed circle), then

$$r_m U^2 = 4\sigma/c_1 \rho_g$$
(16)

which gives an expression for the critical breakup velocity. From photographic evidence that the minimum radius was approximately twice the radius of the original drop, he could calculate the magnitudes of the critical relative velocities.

The constant c_1 was approximated from the assumed pressure distribution over a solid sphere. For the given distribution, the pressure is positive for $0 \le \theta \le 43$ degrees and is negative and practically constant for 43 degrees $\le \theta \le 180$ degrees. If p_0 is taken as this constant value and p_1 is taken as the average pressure over the positive region of the sphere, we obtain $c_1 = 0.582$.

Usually the relative velocity U is not a known quantity, but rather V, the air velocity, is known as a function of position s_0 ; u, the droplet velocity, is known from the equations of motion for the drop but is related to V due to the aerodynamic drag. For one regime of droplet breakup, the relative velocity will increase to the critical velocity (Ref. 8) and there will then be a rapid increase in the droplet size. Hence, the critical velocity criteria divides the droplet into two phases.

Consider the motion wherein the bag exists as a rart of the moving droplet. Let m be the mass of the entire drop. Dodd supposed that a fraction f of the mass was contained in the hollow sphere he chose to represent the bag; the rest of the liquid was contained in the rim to which the bag was anchored. The equations of motion for the sphere were (assuming rectilinear motion):

$$\frac{ds}{dt} = u \tag{17}$$

$$\frac{m}{dt} = mg + 1/2C_{D} \pi r^{2} \rho_{g} (V-u)^{2}$$
(18)

where

r = radius of the bollow sphere.

Let A be a small area on the surface of the bubble, and let δ_r be the thickness of the shell. The mass of this volume is $A\delta_r$ (taking ρ_{water} to be unity); its acceleration (radially) is d^2r/dr^2 . The relationship between acceleration and the acting force is:

$$A\dot{c}_{r} \times \frac{d^{2}r}{dt^{2}} = A \left[p_{i} - p_{o} - \frac{4\sigma}{r}\right] = A \left[c_{1}\rho_{g} (V - u)^{2} \frac{4\sigma}{r}\right].$$
 (19)

The total volume of the shell is:

$$4\pi r^2 \delta_r = f_m \quad . \tag{20}$$

2

Hence,

$$\frac{d^2 r}{dt^2} = \frac{4\pi r^2}{f_m} \left[c_1 \rho_g (v - u)^2 - \frac{4\sigma}{r} \right] .$$
 (21)

Equation 21 gave the drop behavior after the passing of the critical velocity condition.

THE MECHANICS OF DROPS: HUGHES AND GILLIAND (1952)

The authors of this paper (Ref. 17) considered a force balance for the vertical motion of a drop falling through a stagnant continuous medium of infinite extent, whereby,

$$\rho_1 \frac{\pi d^3}{6} \frac{dU}{dt} = \frac{\pi}{6} d^3 g \left(\rho_1 - \rho_g\right) - C_D \frac{\pi}{4} d^2 \frac{\rho_g V^2}{2}$$
(22)

where

d = droplet diameter.

The definition of a drag coefficient is given by:

$$C_{d} = \frac{\text{Drag Force}}{(\text{Frontal Area}) (\rho_{v} U^{2}/2g)} .$$
 (23)

The geometrical shape of the droplet is usually an unknown quantity for a falling droplet. For a falling droplet the value of C_d in Eq. 22 was allowed to vary in order to adjust the drag coefficient based on a solid spherical drop, which was assumed in Eq. 22 to the drag coefficient of the actual, but unknown, geometrical configuration for the falling droplet. In an attempt to determine the drag coefficient as a function of the variables affecting the geometrical configuration and physical state of the drop, the authors resorted to a dimensional analysis technique. The dimensional analysis results show C_d to be a function of Reynolds' Number, an acceleration group, a surface tension group, and a gravity group. These do not take into account the effect of the walls containing the breakup process, the possibility of a continuous phase motion, or freestream turbulence effects. The effects of these parameters on the drag coefficient are a major source of disagreement among researchers in this field.

It is well-known that the fluid pressure on the surface of a moving sphere is not uniform. However, within the drop, except for small amounts of internal circulation due to the distortion of the droplet, and a small gravitational head, the pressure is uniform. Thus, there exists a pressure difference across the droplet surface which must be balanced by the surface tension force in an equilibrium situation. Since p depends on the shape of the drop, a theoretical calculation of the droplet surface aerodynamic pressure or, inversely, the droplet shape, is yet to be solved. Hence, the inverse problem is usually the item of concern; that is, given a distorted shape the task will be to calculate p for given deformation. Hughes and Gilliand stated that the usual method of obtaining p was to assume that the spherical droplet is distorted into a spheroid with its minor axis in the direction of motion. The distortion from the spherical shape can be measured in terms of the fineness ratio, or the eccentricity. According to the authors, the correction of the drag coefficient from the spherical case is not severe as long as the eccentricity is greater than 0.8.

Hughes and Gilliand also attempted to determine whether a spheroidal shape corresponded to the actual shape. They concluded that spheroidal is a valid assumption.

THEORETICAL STUDIES OF MECHANISMS IN THE ATOMIZATION OF LIQUIDS: PESKIN AND LAWLER (1962)

In this report (R.f. 13) of the mechanism of droplet breakup, Peskin and Lawler mentioned a theory advanced by Elzinga (Ref. 12) in an effort to explain droplet breakup in liquid-liquid systems. This theory is essentially that vortices are periodically shed from a moving droplet into the wake, and that the vortex-shedding induces an alternate acceleration-deceleration of the droplet which, thus, causes the droplet to oscillate. When the frequency of the oscillation induced by the vortex shedding becomes equal to the lowest natural frequency of the liquid drop, breakup of the drop occurs. Such a matching of oscillation frequencies is theoretically possible at some drop size since the lowest natural frequency of the drop decreases as its diameter increases, while the vortex shedding frequency increases as the particle diameter increases. Elzinga did plot a dimensionless vortex discharge frequency (Strouhal number) versus Reynolds' number for some data and found a positive correlation.

Peskin and Lawler extended this theory to account for resonant conditions occurring at the frequency of vortex shedding at higher (than the lowest) natural frequencies of the droplet. In considering only primary modes of vibration for a droplet, the breakup criteria is limited to only a minimum diameter; that is, that diameter which corresponds to the frequency of vortex shedding. However, if one considered the droplet as being capable of excitation at modes higher than its lowest natural frequency, the frequency of vortex shedding corresponding to a larger diameter drop than the one being considered could be applied to the given drop at higher natural vibration frequencies. Given a situation where the frequency of vortex shedding is equal to the nth natural frequency of oscillation of the liquid droplet, the authors postulated that the number of droplets into which the intial drop shattered was equal to n, and upon examination of the existing data, found that this approximated the breakup conditions. The authors did not apply this theory to a liquid particle-flowing gas situation because of a lack of available experimental data giving the frequency of vortex shedding for such a system.

The diameter, D_n , at which resonance will occur for any such system previously described is:

$$D_{n} = \frac{205\sigma}{\rho_{g} U^{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\mu_{1}U}{\sigma} & x & \frac{\rho_{1}}{\rho_{g}} \end{bmatrix}^{0.765} (n^{3}+n^{2}-2n)^{0.235}, \text{ Re}<2000.$$
(24)

nas - no messer and a same at

The drop diameter D_n which will be excited to a mode of vibration n that will tend to break it up is given by Eq. 24; it is observed that D_n varies directly with surface tension and inversely with the kinetic energy per unit volume at the moment of breakup. For any given system

of droplets of known initial diameter, it would be possible to calculate the resultant droplet size distribution after breakup, assuming that the nth natural frequency at which breakup of the drops occurs resulted in n droplets per initial drop. Known variables would have to include the relative velocity between the droplet and the airstream, the physical properties, ρ , ρ_1 , and μ_1 , and the minimum stable droplet diameter, given by the authors to be

$$D_c = 9\sigma/\rho_g u^2 \quad . \tag{25}$$

The work of Hu and Kintner (Ref. 28) was also referenced, wherein they determined the critical diameter above which a droplet must break up by

$$D_{c} = \left\{ 1.452 \times 10^{-2} \quad \left[\frac{\sigma}{\rho_{1} - \rho_{g}} \right] \right\}^{1/2} \quad . \tag{26}$$

Peskin and Lawler stated that the theories presented in this paper have been applied to relatively low speed processes. However, for high speed shock processes, it was postulated that since the time to which the droplet is submitted to velocity changes (the action time) is much less than the natural period of oscillation of the droplet, other droplet breakup mechanisms would prevail and become most important. That is, the process causing breaking would occur before the drop could possible undergo even one complete oscillation at the lowest natural droplet frequency.

ATOMIZATION IN HIGH VELOCITY AIRSTREAMS: WEISS AND WORSHAM (1959)

Weiss and Worsham (Ref. 10) conducted an extensive experimental study of the resultant droplet sizes obtained upon injecting liquids into airstreams of constant, moderate velocity (200 - 300 fps). They found that the relative velocity between the droplet and the airstream was the flow parameter having by far the largest effect on resultant droplet size distributions. The variation of other flow parameters and physical properties of the liquid drop had negligible effect when compared to the effect of relative velocity variance.

An empirical correlation was made of their results. The equation is:

$$\frac{x_{\Omega_g} v^2}{\sigma} = 0.61 \left[\frac{u_{\mu_1}}{\sigma} \right]^{2/3} \left[\frac{1 + 10^{3\Omega_g}}{\sigma_1} \right] \left[\frac{w_{\Omega_1} \sigma u_g}{u_1^4} \right]^{1/2}$$
(27)

Solving the empirical equation of Weiss and Worsham for the relative velocity gave:

$$U = 0.61 \quad \left[\frac{\mu_{1} \sigma g_{c}}{\rho_{g} X \times 3.048}\right] \left[\frac{1 + 10^{3} c_{g}}{\rho_{1}}\right] \left[\frac{W c_{1} - \mu_{g}}{3600 - \mu_{1}^{4}}\right]^{-3/4} .$$
 (28)

This empirical result was examined in an effort to discover correlations between the extensive experimental work of Weiss and Worsham and the data of other researchers in this field.

MECHANISM AND SPEED OF BREAKUP OF DROPS: GORDON (1959)

Gordon (Ref. 2) investigated the droplet bag breakup mechanism. a process which he described as ". . . a process where the drops flatten, become bowl-shaped, inflate like a parachute, and finally burst." He postulated that drops smaller than a certain critical initial size were stable and would not break up.

Gordon's work is essentially a supplement to the investigations of Hinze (Ref. 4 and 26). Kinze predicted, considering both small and large viscosity effects, the critical speed, size, and the breakup time for the bag breakup of a droplet. Gordon, in addition to the cases considered by Hinze, obtained the breakup times for the cases of intermediate droplet viscosity and surface tension effects. Gordon stated that an exact mathematical solution would require a complete knowledge of the aerodynamic pressures on the drop as a function of space and time. This pressure distribution depends upon drop shape, which shape is, in turn, governed in part by the external pressure distribution. Within the drop, the effects of hydrostatic pressure, inertia, internal circulation, surface tension forces, and the viscosity must be balanced at every point. He analyzed these effects by considering their respective orders of magnitude involving the breakup parameters.

Gordon assumed, that in the bag breakup process, a cylindrical plug was extruded from the drop in the direction of flow. This extrusion was caused by the dynamic gir pressure on the front stagnation point of the drop and was retarded by the surface tension, viscosity, and internal inertial circulation. The air stagnation pressure is ultimately the disturbing force which causes the breakup. Gordon also stated, without explanation, that actually, the average pressure on the front of the droplet is less than the stagnation pressure, but that this effect is somewhat counteracted by the low pressure due to the separation behind the cylinder. This frontal pressure reduction could possibly be accounted for on the basis of surface circulation effects.

The surface tension forces keep the drop spherical in the absence of other forces. The presence of external forces (e.g., pressure, frictional aerodynamic shear, etc.) tends to cause the drop to deviate from the spherical shape. For the bag breakup phenomena, the front of the drop is flattened, and the redius of curvature of the back side of the drop is increased. Because of this change from the spherical geometry, the surface tension will vary from point to point on the drop surface. Also, during the breakup process, the surface area of the droplet will be increased, and this process requires energy. According to Gordon's mathematical model of a cylinder extrusion, two new surfaces are formed, one at each and of the cylinder. The energy required to form each new surface is equal to the area of the surface times the surface tension. Hence, the resisting force is equal to the surface tension multiplied by the cylinder circumference $2\pi c$ for each area, or $2 \times 2\pi r = 4\pi r$ for the total force. Dividing this force by the cylinder area τr^2 gives the resisting surface tension pressure. Further assuming that the cylinder radius is of the order of magnitude of half the droplet diameter, and substitution into the foregoing equation, gives the resisting pressure, 80/D.

Viscous effects sometimes tend to retard breakup. Cordon assumed that the viscous retarding pressure is proportional to the speed of the reakup. The back pressure for liquid flowing through a tube is $16LL_1/D$, where L is the tube length. Assuming that this case is analagous to the mathematical model, the magnitude of the retarding viscous pressure is $16\mu_1U/D$.

Combining the dynamic, surface tension, and viscous pressures, the acceleration of the cylindrical plug can be calculated, if it is assumed that the rest of the drop remains motionless.

$$\frac{dv}{dt} = \frac{p}{\rho_1 D} = \frac{1}{\rho_1 D} \begin{bmatrix} 1/2 c_a v^2 - \frac{8c}{D} - \frac{16v_1 v}{D} \end{bmatrix}$$
(29)

Solving Eq. 29 for the instantaneous velocity of the plug, and the resulting equation for the instantaneous displacement of the cylinder as a function of time, and setting the displacement of the cylindrical plug equal to the droplet diameter D, the total breakup time of the droplet is expressed by:

$$\frac{2(16\mu_1)^2}{\rho_1 p^2 (\rho_2 v^2 - 16\sigma/D)} = \frac{16\mu_1 \varepsilon}{\rho_1 p^2} - 1 + \exp(-16\mu_1 v \varepsilon_1 p^2).$$
(30)

This equation, even if it were analytically solvable for the breakup time, might yield a breakup time that is too low, since the experimental evidence of other researchers in this field indicated that the

cylinder displacement may be five times the diameter. Gordon, however, postulated that the drop became thinner as it blew up so that the retarding forces were small, and the breakup time depended only on the first stages of breakup.

The critical diameter predicted by the theory is:

$$D = 16\sigma/\rho \frac{u^2}{g}.$$
 (31)

For a droplet larger than critical size and negligible viscosity,

$$t_b = (2D/U) (\rho_1/\rho_g)^{1/2}$$
 (32)

which shows that the breakup time is directly proportional to the initial droplet diameter, and inversely proportional to the relative velocity. For large viscosity and small surface tension,

$$t_{b} = 32\mu_{1}/\rho_{g}U^{2}$$
(33)

which shows that the breakup time is independent of the initial droplet diameter and is inversely proportional to square of the relative velocity. This independence of b.eakup time and initial velocity is rather surprising, since all other calculations show a pronounced effect of droplet diameter on breakup time.

Since Eq. 30 is not analytically solvable, a useful approximation is:

$$z = \frac{\frac{2D\rho_1}{(\rho_{\rm g} U^2 - 16\sigma/D)^{1/2}} + \frac{32\mu_1}{\rho_{\rm g} U^2 - 16\sigma/D} .$$
 (34)

Gordon stated, without verification, that this approximation is never too small and is at most 37% too large.

CRITICAL CONFITIONS FOR DRCP AND JET SHATTERING: MORRELL (1962)

Hinze's analysis applied to a non-viscous liquid suddenly exposed to a constant velocity gas stream has given the criteria for drop breakup, that is:

$$\frac{\delta/R}{\rho_{\rm U}^2 R/\sigma} = -.017 \quad . \tag{35}$$

Assuming the critical displacement to be minus R, Morrell (Ref. 5) assumed the critical Weber number for breakup to be about six. Morrell, in another paper (Ref. 6), analyzed the case for a liquid jet and found that for a constant velocity flow the critical condition for jet breakup was

$$\frac{\delta/R}{c_{\rm g} U^2 R/c} = -0.20 .$$
 (36)

Hence, he assumed that a drop and a jet should behave in approximately the same way with regard to breakup criteria. It was also shown that for an exponential decay of dynamic pressure (i.e., $U^2 = c_0 U_0^{-2} e^{-at}$)

the ratio of displacement to Weber number decreases as the action time, $t_0 = 1/a$, decreases. The maximum values of this ratio were plotted by Morrell as a function of $\tau/2^{-1} t_a$, where τ is the natural period of oscillation of the jet:

$$r = 2r \left(o_1 R^2 / 6c\right)^{1/2}$$
 (37)

This expression was assumed to be approximately correct for a sphere if the corresponding natural period of a liquid sphere was used:

$$\tau = 2\pi \left(\rho_1 R^3 / 8c\right)^{1/2} . \tag{38}$$

Morrell also discussed the breakup of a liquid drop by what he termed a stripping action or shear breakup. He quoted the work of Taylor (Ref. 29) who calculated the liquid boundary layer thickness and the stripping rate from the boundary layer. Taylor concluded, however, that the calculated breakup time and the experimental breakup time were significantly different.

Taylor's theoretical study was based on the assumption that the liquid sheet, stripped from the circumference of the drop undergoing shear breakup, separated from the drop surface when the fractional force on the sheet equaled or exceeded the liquid surface tension force. Hence, for shear breakup, a critical value of $\rho_0 U_0^2$ (rather than a critical Weber number, as was the case for bag breakup) should be the criterion for breakup.

As a completion of his analysis, Morrell set forth the conditions under which each type of breakup should occur. For the model he assumed, if t_a is greater than the natural period of oscillation of the drop, the liquid drop should experience bag breakup. If t_a is less than the natural period of oscillation, the droplet will experience shear breakup.

SHATTER OF DROPS IN STREAMS OF AIR: LANE (1951)

Lane (Ref. 7) stated that a relationship of the form $U^2 d = constant$ would be expected to adequately express critical breakup velocities for liquid drops, on the assumption that, a liquid sphere placed in a steady stream of air would break up when the force due to the variation of the aerodynamic pressure over the drop surface exceeded the surface tension pressure of the droplet. This relationship naturally resulted from the expression equating the drag force on the droplet to the surface tension pressure for a sphere, or

$$C_{\rm D}^{1/2} \rho_{\rm g} U^2 = 4\sigma/d.$$
 (39)

Lane also stated that observations from his experimental work indicatel that the viscosity of the droplet affected the breakup process only when the viscosity was very high, like glycerol.

From the experimental evidence examined by Lane, it appeared that the expression, $U^2d = 612$, was true for breakup over a wide range of droplet diameters. If this relationship held true, water droplets five microns in diameter would remain intact at a sonic relative velocity. Results of further experimental work of Lane indicated that drops even larger than five microns are able to withstand such large relative velocities without breakup.

An increase in the relative velocity, between the droplet and the gas stream, resulted in the production of increasingly finer droplets resulting from the breakup process only up to a certain point. At relative velocities beyond this point, even well above sonic velocities, one-half of the mass of the resulting spray of fine droplets had diameters greater than 15 microns for wide ranges of initial droplet diameters.

Lane also found that the velocities required to insure droplet breakup in the transient (step change in velocity) air blasts were lower than in the steady (steadily increasing velocity) air stream. For smaller drops, the divergence between the critical steady and the critical transient velocities increased. Also, it was noticed that the resultant droplet mass mean diameter decreased with an increase in relative velocity.

It should be noted, at this point, that the results of Lane's experimental work has since been opposed by the theories and experimental results of Hanson, et al.. (Ref. 8).

SHOCK TUBE INVESTIGATION OF THE BREAKUP OF DROPS BY AIR BLASTS: HANSON, DOMICH, AND ADAMS (1963)

The droplet breakup investigation of Hanson, Domich, and Adams (Ref. 8) considered two situations which cause a droplet to shatter. The first case was termed by them the "steady" case, or that situation in which a droplet was subjected to a steadily increasing relative velocity. The second, or "transient" case, was the situation that existed when a droplet was suddenly exposed to a change in relative velocity. Building upon the work of Hinze (Ref. 4), Lane (Ref. 7), and Merrington and Richardson (Ref. 30), in considering these two cases, the authors investigated the breakup mechanisms and the effect of physical parameters upon droplet breakup for droplets in the 100 to 1,000 micron size range.

The underlying philosophy of their experimental program was that it was reasonable to assume the existence of a critical velocity for a given droplet diameter. This critical velocity was defined as the relative velocity between the gas stream and the droplet just necessary to induce the droplet to break up. In an effort to discover a verifiable U_c versus d curve, droplets of fluids of differing physical properties were suspended in an acoustic field and subjected to an air blast produced in a shock tube. High speed motion pictures were taken of the droplets of different sizes as they were being deformed and broken up by and after the passage of the shock wave.

An examination of the resulting photographic evidence brought forth many interesting points. First, bag breakup was observed even with the "transient" case. This finding was in opposition to the work of Lane (Ref. 7) who stated that bag breakup occurred only in the "steady" case. The findings of the authors, though, showed that bag breakup would occur in the transient case except for those velocities which are greatly in excess of the critical velocity for a given droplet diameter. The work of Rabin and Lawhead (Ref. 14) supported this conclusion. Second, it was noticed that for the more viscous droplets, the bag breakup mechanism was more "complicated;" that is, the shape of the bag deviated considerably from the spherical shape of the bag of less viscous fluids subjected to the same mode of breakup; and the rupture of the bag resulted in the formation of fluid ligaments, rather than the small spherical droplets common to the bag breakup of less viscous liquids. Third, the breakup curves of critical velocity versus diameter were plotted for drop diameters in the range of 90 to 700 microns. For this range of drop diameters, U_c was between 40 and 250 feet per second. A least squares data fit brought forth the following equation correlating critical velocity and diameter.

 $U_{c}^{2}D = 6.21 \times 10^{6} \text{ (water)}$ $= 2.71 \times 10^{6} \text{ (alcohol)}$ (40)

This equation is analogous to the empirical relationship of Lane (Ref. 7), that is, $U_c^{2}D$ = constant.

The authors reviewed Hinze's theory (Ref. 4), which stated that breakup occurred when the dynamic pressure of the gas stream at the stagnation point of the droplet exceeded the surface tension pressure by a certain factor. Forming the ratio of the dynamic pressure of the air and the surface tension pressure defines the Weber number, as

We =
$$c_g u^2 r/\sigma$$
 (41)

we find that

$$U_{c}^{2}D = 2\sigma We_{crit/\rho_{g}}$$
 (42)

which is justification for the empirical equation.

A plot of Eq. 40 yields the We $_{\rm crit}$ for various surface tensions and densities. A summary of this information can be found in Table 1.

| Liquid | U _c , ft/sec | D, μ | Wecrit | | |
|----------------|-------------------------|------|--------|--|--|
| Water 84.3 | | 600 | 3.60 | | |
| Water | 109.5 | 410 | 4.23 | | |
| Water | 157.3 | 270 | 6.00 | | |
| Water | 238.5 | 120 | 6.55 | | |
| Methyl alcohol | 60.0 | 625 | 5.98 | | |
| Methyl alcohol | 84.3 | 330 | 6.34 | | |
| Methyl alcohol | 109.5 | 230 | 7.62 | | |
| Methyl alcohol | 157.3 | 118 | 8.41 | | |

TABLE 1. Critical Weber Numbers as Determined
by Hanson, Domich, and Adams.

Considering the effects of surface tension, Eq. 42 would give for identical diameters,

$$\frac{(U_c)_{water}}{(U_c)_{alcohol}} = \begin{bmatrix} \sigma_{water} \\ \sigma_{alcohol} \end{bmatrix}^{1/2} = 1.79.$$
(43)

Equation 43, however, did not correlate the experimental data of the authors. Had the exponent been 1/3 instead of 1/2, the correlation would have been much better. This result seemed to indicate a more complicated surface tension effect than had been predicted in Hinze's theory.

The authors also attempted to correlate the effect of liquid viscosity on droplet breakup. Using the theory of Hinze in which he predicted that

as a basis of comparison, they found that their experimental data did not fit the above relationships. In fact, they found that the critical Weber number was not constant for liquids of approximately the same viscosity, but that it increased with decreasing diameter for each of the experimental liquids, and that for very high viscosity, the divergence between Hinze's theory and their experimental data was considerable.

The authors attempted a simple correlation of data on the basis of WeRe = constant, or

$$(WeRe)_{crit} = \frac{\rho_g}{2\sigma v_g} (U_c^3 D^2)$$
(45)

which led to, under the conditions that (WeRe) $_{\mbox{crit}},\ \rho$, $\sigma,$ and ν are constant,

$$U_{c}^{\alpha \sigma}$$
 ^{1/3}, (46)

for a given droplet diameter. This simple correlation gave some justification to their previous 1/3 power of viscosity versus critical velocity data fit.

FRAGMENTATION OF WATERDROPS IN THE ZONE BEHIND AN AIR SHOCK: ENGEL (1958)

A CONTRACTOR

In an extensive and elaborate experimental program conducted by Engel (Ref. 9), a wealth of photographic evidence, showing the minutes details of the breakup of a water droplet due to the passage of a shock wave, was accumulated. For Mach numbers of 1.3, 1.5, and 1.7 and drop diameters 1 to 3 millimeters, a very definite shear breakup mechanism, due to the interaction of the shock wave and the droplet, was shown. In general, the times required to induce the different stages of shear

- - - - -

breakup, and to totally shatter the droplet, were inversely proportional to the strength of the shock wave and directly proportional to the initial droplet diameter. It appeared, however, that a change in the Mach number of the shock was more effective in increasing the rate of droplet breakup than was a change in initial droplet diameter.

The experimental data taken considered only the variation of breakup time with critical droplet size and shock strength. The effects of liquid viscosity, surface tension, and density were not taken into consideration in the experimental program. One conclusion that could very definitely be made was that the passage of the shock itself did not induce breakup, but that the strength and duration of flow behind the shock were the controlling breakup parameters. Engel theorized that the reaction time of the liquid droplet should decrease as the mass of water that is involved decreased and the shock strength increased.

With regard to the mechanism of shear breakup, it was concluded that the characteristic streaming mist, emitting from the outer periphery of a drop undergoing shear breakup, was not due to vaporization of the liquid, but instead, was due to "mechanical origins." The mechanical origins considered were a mist produced by sound waves, the stripping off of surface layers of water by the tangential aerodynamic forces existing around the periphery of the drop, and the breaking off of the crests of surface waves. An examination of the above postulations resulted in the acceptance of those mechanisms which took into account the action of the rapid airstream on the surface of the droplet; that is, the breaking off of wave crests, the spilling off of the moving boundary layers at the equator of the drop, and the stripping of water from the downstream face of the droplet by vortex actions.

After the examination of data from similar experiments by other researchers in the field of droplet breakup, Engel concluded that the fragmentation mechanism is dependent upon drop diameter, relative air flow velocity, and the density, surface tension, and viscosity of the liquid drop. Generalizing the results of the present study might result in spurious inferences, since it appears that not only the rate of breakup, but also, the mechanism by which it occurs is very strongly dependent upon the variables mentioned above, and all of these variables were not included in the investigation.

THE MOTION AND SHATTERING OF BURNING AND NON-BURNING PROPELLANT DROPLETS: RABIN AND LAWHEAD (1959)

Rabin and Lawhead (Ref. 14) conducted a shock tube study of the effect of shock waves on the breakup of burning and non-burning liquid fuel droplets. They observed both the bag and the shear-type breakup mechanisms for both the burning and non-burning droplets. They also discovered that the type of breakup mechanism and the critical velocity required to induce breakup were correlated in some manner with the duration of the "flow plateau" following the shock front. No general correlation of these two quantities, however, was formulated. The critical velocity for burning droplets was reported by the authors to be slightly lower than the critical velocity for the non-burning droplets of the liquid fuel they were examining. This difference, they postulated, was due to the difference in the surface tension for the two cases; the surface tension for the burning droplet being lower than for the non-burning droplet.

A general conclusion obtained from an examination of the photographic experimental results showed that for flow velocities which are considerably greater than the critical velocity required to induce drop breakup, the shear-type breakup mechanism will always occur. Another conclusion of the experimental program was that the drops are broken up by the flow behind the shock wave and not by the shock front itself.

Since Rabin and Lawhead discovered that the critical velocity for breakup is reduced with an increase in duration of the flow plateau behind the shock front, it was postulated that the drop breakup could be proportional to the impulse (i.e., force multiplied by the time which the force acts) acting on the droplet. Their reasoning, however, was not verified experimentally in their report.

The authors point out that the theory of Hinze (Ref. 4) predicted that the critical velocity should be directly proportional to the surface tension raised to the 1/2 power. Experimentally, other authors (e.g., Hanson (Ref. 8)) have found a 1/3 power dependence. However, the data scatter of the experimental work of the authors made it impossible to confirm either the 1/2 or the 1/3 power dependence.

A further attempt to correlate experimental data in terms of Weber number also proved unfruitful. Rabin and Lawhead concluded that no simple relationship existed between the critical droplet diameter and a critical Weber number for either burning or non-burning droplets.

Perhaps the major contribution of the first report (Ref. 14), of the experimental work of the authors, was the data gathered on the drag coefficients of the liquid droplets. Upon examining the photographic record of the droplet breakup process, they were able to measure the droplet position as a function of time. From this data, the drag coefficients were computed. For smaller droplets (less than 100 microns), the drag coefficients appeared to agree with those previously reported by Ingebo (Ref. 18). However, for larger droplets, there is considerable departure from his data. This effect is possibly due to the fact that for droplets less than 100 microns diameter, the photographic record showed that the droplets deformed only slightly from the spherical shape (for velocities less than the critical velocity), while for drops greater than 100 microns, the droplet deformed into the usual disk shape, even for velocities less than the critical velocity for the given drop diameter. Another significant result of the authors' work was that the

drag coefficients for burning droplets are slightly lower than for nonburning droplets. This change may be due to the reduced pressure field around the burning droplet due to the vapor phase burning which, in turn, decreases the pressure drag of the droplet.

DISPLACEMENT AND SHATTERING OF PROPELLANT DROPLETS -- FINAL SUMMARY REPORT: RABIN, SCHALLENMULLER, AND LAWHEAD (1960)

This report (Ref. 14) summarized an extensive experimental program investigating the shattering of burning and non-burning droplets by a normal shock wave at both atmospheric and elevated pressures (i.e., in general, pressures above the critical pressures of the test liquid). Within shock tubes, the duration of gas flow behind the shock wave was varied by using different lengths of pressure section within the shock tube. This variance of flow duration, or "flow plateau", was used to vary physical conditions to which the droplet was subjected during the experimental program. The solenoidal retraction of the wire upon which a propellant droplet was suspended resulted in the formation of two droplets within the test section, a "primary" droplet of 500-1,600 micron size and a "satellite" droplet of 50-300 micron size. In its entirety, the test program investigated the effects of flow velocity, flow duration, chamber pressure, and surface tension on the shattering of burning and non-burning liquid droplets.

The photographic evidence indicated both bag and shear methods of breakup. In general, the larger droplets exhibited shear breakup and shorter breakup times and the smaller droplets exhibited bag breakup for a given velocity and duration of flow. There were also instances in which the droplet appeared to begin the type of deformation leading to shear breakup, but then, only violently oscillated, with no fragments being torn from the droplet.

A major finding of the experimental work was a verification of an earlier postulation, namely, that the passage of the shock front does not shatter the droplet. It is the flow that follows the shock front that causes the droplet to break up. The actual experimental procedure was confined to weak shocks because the authors theorized that the critical flow velocities were in the lcw velocity ranges, and the previous experimental work of the authors (Ref. 14) clearly indicated the existence of a critical velocity for a given droplet diameter.

Regarding critical velocities, it was stated that there presently exists no satisfactory explanation to account for the selection of either bag or shear breakup near the critical velocity. It was discovered, however, that a flow velocity much greater than the critical velocity for a particular droplet diameter always causes the shear type breakup to occur. The typical critical velocities of this experimental procedure were rather low (e.g., $V_{\rm crit} = 60-100$ ft/sec for the propellants RP-1, DECH (diethylchlorohexane) at one atmospheric pressure; $V_{crit} = 10-15$ ft/sec, DECH, 34 atmospheres pressure). Flow durations for both cases were 1.0 to 2.5 milliseconds.

There was a rather substantial decrease in the critical velocity for a droplet of given size as the flow duration was increased. This fact led to the postulation of a critical droplet diameter for a given flow duration. The time required for a droplet to deform sufficiently from its original spherical shape to a shape inducing breakup (the deformation time) was found to be inversely proportional to the droplet diameter. Therefore, droplets below the critical diameter can deform as the gas velocity decays in magnitude, but droplets above the critical size do not have time to deform and shatter. The deformation time was assumed to be inversely proportional to the gas flow velocity; it appeared that a greater flow velocity would be required to shatter a droplet above the critical size than would be required for a droplet smaller than critical size.

"Steady" and "transient" flow conditions were defined based on the natural period of vibration of a liquid drop. 'Steady" flow conditions existed if the flow plateau following the shock persisted longer than one-half the natural period of oscillation of the liquid drop oscilating in its lowest mode. "Transient" flow conditions existed if the flow plateau was less than one-half the natural period of the drop. These conclusions were reached by considering the droplet as an idealized spring-mass system with a step-up and decaying forcing function and then solving the resulting differential equation of motion of the system.

In an effort to find the criteria for determining the occurrence of either bag or shear breakup, the authors computed the natural period of vibration of the drop and compared this value with the flow duration and the observed type of breakup. The attempts to correlate the experimental data on the basis of the steady and transient flow designations defined on the basis of the natural period were unsuccessful, and to date, no satisfactory correlation is available.

At elevated pressures, only shear breakup was found to occur, but at atmospheric pressure, both types of breakup occurred. Also, after calculation of the critical pressures of the liquids tested and comparison of the characteristics of the shear breakup at pressures both above and blow the critical pressures of the liquids, no significant influence of critical pressure was observed. The only observed effect of the higher pressure was a lower critical flow velocity.

From the studies made at both atmospheric and elevated pressures, it did not appear that there was any significant difference in the breakup characteristics between burning and non-burning droplets. There appeared to be a slightly lower critical velocity for burning droplets than for non-burning droplets due to the lower surface tension of the burning droplets.

These authors also attempted to correlate the test results in terms of the droplet Weber number. For D less than d_0 , We = constant. For D greater than d_0 , We increased with increasing droplet diameter at some constant slope. For various test conditions, however, Weber number did not give an adequate general correlation. In a further attempt at correlation, the authors plotted We versus the ratio of the flow duration divided by natural period. These authors recognized the inadequacy of a constant We theory and thus attempted a new data correlation. The basis concept of their hypothesis of data correlation is that transient breakup and shear breakup are not synonymous. Examination of their data showed that transient breakup must be a time-controlled phenomena whereas shear breakup is rather time-independent. Rabin, et al., postulated that showed the droplet is greater than the surface tension forces and

WeRe
$$^{-1/2} = k_3$$
. (47)

The constant k_3 was experimentally determined, and Eq. 47 gave excellent agreement for all flow cases of a non-burning droplet if $k_3 = 1/2$. For a burning droplet, the correlation did not give such a good result, but this may have been due to the difficulty in determining the surface tension for the burning droplets.

A secondary result of the experimental process was that the droplet orag coefficient for high pressures, and for either burning or nonburning droplets, was approximately equal to one.

KINETICS, MECHANISM, AND RESULTANT SIZES OF THE AERODYNAMIC BREAKUP OF LIQUID DROPS: WOLFE AND ANDERSON (1964)

Wolfe and Anderson (Ref. 16), after giving a short review of other classical theories of breakup mechanisms, have postulated that droplet breakup (which is a flow process) is a rate process. Eyring, in his book <u>The Theory of Rate Processes</u> (Ref. 31), has stated that any "rearrangement of matter" can be considered to be a rate process, and hence, the theory of absolute reaction rates can be applied, theoretically, to the breakup of liquid droplets. Wolfe and Anderson stated that the oft-used classical equation, which equates the maximum force tending to break up the droplet to the surface tension force, is valid only for small rates of stress loading, and hence, not for shock processes. They also theorized that in any situation, in which the stress tending to break up the liquid undergoes a change in time less than that required to break up the liquid, the above mentioned classical equation will not be true.

The unique approach of Wolfe and Anderson applied kinetic theory to the breakup process, whereas all work previous to theirs had considered the breakup process only from the hydrodynamic and mechanical

approach. However, the authors stated that this does not mean that the hydrodynamics and mechanics of the problem should be ignored, but only that they should be incorporated into the proper kinetic expression of the system.

The authors considered that the aerodynamic pressure drag and the aerodynamic friction drag, logically, were the two variables that were responsible for the two extreme types of liquid droplet breakup; bag breakup and shear breakup. A qualitative theoretical derivation, using rate process theory to relate droplet deformation to the above-mentioned aerodynamic forces, resulted in an equation relating the droplet breakup times to the flow parameters of the gas stream and the physical properties of the liquid droplet, or

$$t = \frac{d}{(A^2 + BP)} - A$$
 (48)

where

$$A = \frac{16 \mu/dc_1}{B}$$

$$B = \frac{2}{c_1}$$

$$P = \frac{1}{20} \frac{U^2 c_0}{D} - \frac{k\sigma/d}{D}$$

k = constant reflecting drop curvature during breakup.

For flow and/or liquid conditions in which viscous and surface tension forces are negligible, Eq. 48 becomes

$$t = \frac{d}{U} \left(\frac{\rho_1}{\rho_g} \right)^{-1/2} .$$
 (49)

For extremely viscous liquids and negligible surface tension,

$$t = 32 \upsilon / c_g \upsilon^2 . \tag{50}$$

It was interesting to note, at this point, the similarity that existed between Eq. 49 and 50, and the expressions of Hinze and Gordon for similar breakup conditions.

Equation 48 can be regarded as a generalized equation for the breakup time of a liquid drop of given physical properties subjected to an aerodynamic flow of known conditions. The authors stated that it was possible to use Eq. 48 to predict the breakup time of a liquid without regard to the mechanism of breakup, if we could choose a suitable value for k. After examination of available experimental data,

Eq. 48 can be used if $C_D = 1$ and k = 2. For the use of Eq. 48, the experimental breakup time is defined as the time from the inception of the aerodynamic flow around the droplet to the instant in which the droplet begins to break up. Thus, the theoretical total time required to break up the droplet will be slightly larger than the experimental values, since the theoretical breakup time assumes that a complete disintegration of the droplet (complete rearrangement of matter) has occurred.

If Eq. 48 is to provide an adequate model of the breakup process, then it should provide an explanation of both bag and shear breakup. Since the criteria have been invoked that bag breakup results from pressure drag and shear breakup results from friction drag, two individual forms of Eq. 48 may be written; one expression containing the pressure drag stress in the pressure expression. It was postulated that for a liquid drop of given properties and an air stream of given properties, breakup would occur by the mechanism that required the least breakup time. If the two rates were comparable, the drop should exhibit both bag and shear breakup characteristics.

Equation 48 can be made to fit both breakup cases if one assumes that the frictional drag is twice the pressure drag; an opinion which comes from many workers in this field. If the total drag stress acting on a drop during breakup is $1/2\rho U^2 C_D$, then for bag and shear breakup, the pressure expression becomes g

$$P_{b} = (1/3) (1/2\rho_{g} U^{2}) C_{D} - K_{b} \sigma/d$$
 (51)

$$P_{s} = (2/3)(1/2\rho_{g}U^{2})C_{D} - K_{s}\sigma/d$$
 (52)

where K_b and K_g are constants that reflect the effect of surface tension tending to hold the drop together during bag and shear breakup. By a best fit of experimental data, $K_b = 4$ and $K_g = 2$, these values may be used to predict breakup times for drops undergoing either bag or shear breakup. Experimental evidence has shown that for low velocities, bag breakup prevails and that for high velocities, shear breakup prevails.

It is also very desirable to be able to predict the mean drop size produce by the breakup of the original drop; although, the droplet sizes produced by the primary breakup of the original drop may vary due to the secondary breakup of drops produced by the primary breakup, vaporization of primary and secondary droplets, coalescence of primary and secondary droplets, and settling or removel of the droplets by the gas stream. This report considered only the mean droplet size distribution resulting from the primary breakup; and the magnitudes of the other mentioned effects were estimated from existing knowledge. The experimental results of this study showed that the drop sizes produced by the two

· · · ·

different breakup modes were essentially the same a result that is intuitively somewhat surprising. However, since 2 postulated mechanism (shearing of a liquid film from the drop) and one equation (Eq. 48) theoretically govern both types of breakup, this suggested result is not surprising from a theoretical standpoint.

The results of this study did not provide a theory that would provide a resultant droplet size distribution as a function of the liquid droplet and the gas stream parameters. However, by assuming that the mean drop size results from the breakup into optimum unstable wave lengths of the liquid boundary layer being stripped from the surface of the droplet, it has been found that the mean diameter is

$$D = \left[\frac{136\mu_{1} \sigma^{3/2} d^{1/2}}{\sigma_{g}^{2} c_{1}^{1/2} v^{4}}\right]^{-1/3} .$$
 (53)

Equation 53 was derived for the case in which the aerodynamic forces are much larger than either the viscous or surface tension forces. It is theorized that this case is valid for shock processes.

It is interesting to note that Eq. 53 predicts both the same $1/U^{4/3}$ dependence of D and the same initial diameter to the 1/6 power dependence of D as does the empirical work of Weiss and Worsham (Ref. 10).

REFERENCES

- 1. Bond, W. N., and D. A. Newton. "Bubbles, Drops, and Stokes Law," Philosophical Magazine, V, (April, 1928), pp. 794-800.
- 2. Gordon, G. D. "Mechanism and Speed of Breakup of Drops," Journal of Applied Physics, XXX, No. 11, (November, 1959), pp. 1759-1761.
- 3. Dodd, K. N. "On the Disintegration of Water Drops in an Airstream," Journal of Fluid Mechanics, IX, (1960), pp. 175-182.
- 4. Hinze, J. O. "Critical Speeds and Sizes of Liquid Globules," Applied Scientific Research, Series A, I, No. 9, (1949), pp. 273-288.
- 5. Morrell, Gerald. "Critical Conditions for Drop and Jet Shattering," NASA Technical Note D-677, (February 1961).
- Morrell, Gerald. "Rate of Liquid Jet Breakup by a Transverse Shock Wave," NASA Technical Note D-1728, (May 1963).
- 7. Lane, W. R. "Shatter of Drops in Stream of Air," Industrial and Engineering Chemistry, XLIII, (June 1951), pp. 1312-1317.
- Hanson, A. R., E. G. Domich, and H. S. Adams. "Shock Tube Investigation of the Breakup of Drops by Air Blast," The Physics of Fluids, VI, No. 8, (August 1963), pp. 1070-1080.
- Engel, Olive G. "Fragmentation of Waterdrops in the Zone Behind an Air Shock," Journal of Research of the National Bureau of Standards, LX, No. 3, (March 1958), pp. 245-280.
- Weiss, M. A., and C. H. Worsham. "Atomization in High Velocity Air Streams," ARS Journal, XXIX, No. 4, (April 1959), pp. 252-259.
- 11. Magarvey, R. H., and B. W. Taylor. "Freefall Breakup of Large Drops," Journal of Applied Physics, XXVII, No. 10, (October 1956), pp. 1129-1135.
- Elzinga, E. R., Jr., and J. T. Banchero. "Some Observations on the Mechanics of Drops in Liquid-Liquid Systems," AIChE Journal, VII, (1961), pp. 394-399.
- 13. Peskin, R. L., and J. P. Lawler. "Theoretical Studies of Mechanisms in Atomization of Liquids," ASHRAE Transactions, LXIX, pp. 293-302.
- 14. Rabin, E., and R. Lawhead. "The Motion and Shattering of Burning and Non-Burning Propellant Droplets," AFOSR Technical Note 59-126, R 1503, Combustion Dynamics Division, Air Force Office of Scientific Research, (March 25, 1959).

15. Rabin, E., Schallenmuller, A. R., and Lawhead, R. B. "Displacement and Shattering of Propellant Droplets-Final Summary Report," Contract AF 18(603)-98, Air Force Office of Scientific Research, Combustion Dynamics Division, Washington, D.C., (March 1960). 16. Wolfe, H. E., and W. H. Anderson. "Kinetics, Mechanism, and Resultant Droplet Sizes of the Aerodynamic Breakup of Liquid Drops," Aerojet-General Corporation Report 0395-04(18)SP, (April 1964). 17. Hughes, R. R., and E. R. Gilliand. "The Mechanics of Drops," Chemical Engineering Progress, XLVIII, No. 10, (October 1952), pp. 497~504. 18. Ingebo, R. D. "Drag Coefficients for Droplet and Solid Spheres in Clouds Accelerating in Airstreams," NACA Technical Note 3762, (September 1956). 19. Carlson, D. J., and Richard F. Hoglund "Particle Drag and Heat Transfer in Rocket Noz; les," AIAA Journal, II, No. 11, (November 1964), pp. 980-1984. 20. Way, S., and J. A. Nicholls. "Drag Coefficients of Inert and Burning Particles Accelerating in a Gas Stream," Report, NASA Grant NsG-86-60, Air Propulsion Laboratory, University of Michigan. 21. Adam, Neil Kensignton. The Physics and Chemistry of Surfaces. London, Oxford University Press, 1949. 22. Semenchenko, V. K. Surface Phenomena in Metal and Alloys. London, Pergaman Press Ltd., 1962. 23. Triebnigg, H. Der Einblase und Einspritzvorgang bei Dieselmaschinen. Vienna, Springer-Verlag, 1925. 24. Spilhaus, A. F. "Raindrop Size, Shape, and Falling Speed," Journal of Meteorology, V, (June 1948), pp. 108-110. 25. MacDonald, J. E. "The Shape and Aerodynamics of Large Rain Drops," Journal of Meteorology, XI, pp. 478-494. Hinze, J. O. "Forced Deformations of Viscous Liquid Globules," 26. Applied Scientific Research, Series A, I, No. 9, (1949), pp. 263-272. Batchelor, G. K., and R. M. Davis. (eds.) Surveys in Mechanics. 27. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1956. 28. Hu, Shengen, and R. C. Kintner. "The Fall of Single Liquid Drops Through Water," AIChE Journal, I, (March 1955), pp. 42-48.

37

and an entry of a second statem

- 29. Taylor, G. S. "The Instability of Liquid Surfaces When Accelerated in a Direction Perpendicular to Their Planes." I, Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, CCI, (1950), pp. 192-196.
- Merrington, A. C., and E. G. Richardson. "The Breakup of Liquid Jets," Proceedings of the Physical Society of London, LIX, (1947), pp. 1-13.
- 31. Glasstone, S., K. J. Laidler, and H. Eyring. The Theory of Rate Processes. New York, McGraw-Hill Co., Inc., 1941, Chapter 10.

can use adverse power

NOMENCLATURE

Minor diameter, microns а Major diameter, microns ь Drag coefficient CD d Droplet diameter, microns Frequency at which vortices are shed f Acceleration due to gravity, ft/sec² g Mach number Μ Droplet mass, 1b m m An integer, 1,2,3,. . .,n n Pressure, 1b_f/in² р Droplet radius, microns R Reynolds' number, $\rho_g U_{rel} d/\mu_g$ Re Area, microns² s Strouhal number, $\frac{fd}{U}$. . . Time, seconds t Action time, seconds ٤, Relative velocity between drop and surrounding medium, ft/sec ប Molecular weight, $lb_m/mole$; mass injection rate, lb_m/hr W $d\rho_{\ell}U^{2}$ Weber number, We σ Mass median diameter, microns Х Droplet deformation parallel to flow direction, microns δ Microns μ Gas Stream absolute viscosity, 1b /ft-sec μ g

39

- μ_1 Droplet absolute viscosity, $lb_m/ft-sec$
- v Kinematic viscosity, ft²/sec
- π 3.14
- ρ Droplet radius, microns
- ρ_{g} Gas stream density, lb_{m}/ft^{3}
- ρ₁ Droplet density, 1b_m/ft³
- σ Surface tension, lb_f/ft or dynes/cm
- τ Natural period of oscillation, seconds
- Angular distance from stagnation point; polar angle around median vertical plane of droplet

Subscripts

avg Average condition

- b Breakup condition
- c Critical condition
- D Droplet
- Gas 8
- 1 Liquid
- Maximum condition
- o Initial condition; outside
- s Stagnation point; due to surface tension
- x Upstream from shock front
- Downstream from shock front y
- $_{\infty}$ Free stream condition

DIBLIOGRAPHY

Adamson, Arthur W. Physical Chemistry of Surfaces. New York, Interscience Publishers, Inc., 1960.

Adamson, T. C., Jr., and R. B. Morrison. "On the Classification of Normal Detonation Waves," Jet Propulsion, XXV, (August 1955), pp. 400-403.

- Allen, H. S. "The Motion of a Sphere in a Viscous Fluid," Philosophical Magazine, Series 5, L, (1930), pp. 323-338.
- Bikerman, J. J. Surface Chemistry: Theory and Applications. New York, Academic Press, Inc., 1958.
- Blanchard, D. C. "The Behavior of Water Drops at Terminal Velocity in Air," Transactions of the American Geophysical Union, XXXI, No. 6, (December 1950), pp. 836-842.
- Bond, W. N. "Bubbles and Drops and Stokes Law," Philosophical Magazine, Series 7, IV, No. 24, (November 1927), pp. 889-898.
- Borodin, V. A., and Y. E. Dityakin. "Unstable Capillary Waves on Surface of Separation of Two Viscous Fluids," NACA Technical Memorandum 1281, (April 1951).
- Brown, Billings, and Kennth P. McArty. "Particle Size of Condensed Oxides from Combustion of Metallized Solid Propellants," Eighth International Symposium on Combustion, ed. The Combustion Institute. Baltimore, Williams and Wilkins, 1962, pp. 814-ff.
- Brown, B. "Rocket Motor Performance-Nozzle Configuration Effect," AIChE Preprint 2e, Prepared for the Symposium on Aerospace Fiels Technology, May 17-20, 1964, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.
- Brown, R. E., and K. L. Leonard. Methods of Describing Droplet-Size Distribution from Atomized Solution. Report No. 0395-04(15)SP of Aerojet-General Corporation, March, 1964.
- Brzutowski, T. A. "On Burning of Metal Additives in Solid Propellant Rocket Motors," Canadian Aeronautical and Space Journal, IX, No. 5, (May, 1963), pp. 141-149.
- Campbell, I. J., and A. S. Pitcher. "Shock Waves in a Liquid Containing Gas Bubbles," Proceedings of the Royal Society, Series A, CCXLIII, (1958), pp. 534-545.
- Carlson, D. J. "Experimental Determination of Thermal Lag in Gas-Particle Nozzle Flow, " ARS Journal, XXXII, (July 1962), pp. 1107-1109.

- Carrier, G. F. "Shock Waves in a Dusty Gas," Journal of Fluid Mechanics, IV, Part 4, (1958), pp. 376-382.
- Castleman, R. A., Jr. "The Mechanism of the Atomization of Liquids," Journal of Research of the National Bureau of Standards, VI, (1931), pp. 369-376.
- Cramer, Frank B. "The Onset of Detonation in a Droplet Combustion Field," Ninth International Symposium on Combustion, ed. The Combustion Institute. New York, Academic Press, 1963.
- Crowe, C. T., J. A. Nicholls, and R. B. Morrison. "Drag Coefficients of Inert and Burning Particles Accelerating in Gas Streams," Ninth International Symposium on Combustion, ed. The Combustion Institute. New York, Academic Press, 1963, pp. 395-406.
- Davis, A. "Solid Propellants. The Combustion of Particles of Metal Ingredients," Combustion and Flame, VII, No. 4, (December 1963), pp. 359-367.
- Dean, L. E., and others. Ignition and Combustion in Small Scale Liquid Rocket Engines, Report No. 9200-22-63, Aerojet-General Corporation, December 1963.
- DeCorso, S. M. Spray Distribution and Drop Size From a Swirl Atomizer. ASME Paper No. 61-WA-300. Contributed by the Gas Turbine Power Division for Presentation at the Winter Annual Meeting, New York, November 26-December 1, 1961, of the American Society of Mechanical Engineers.
- Dobbins, R. A. "Measurement of Mass Particle Size in a Gas-Particle Flow," AIAA Journal, I, August 1963.
- Dombrowski, N., D. Hasson, and D. E. Ward. "The Mechanics of liquid Flow through Fan Spray Nozzles," Report JRL43, Prepared by the Imperial College of Science and Technology, Great Britain, October 1958.
- Dunne, B., and B. Cassen. "Velocity Discontinuity of a Liquid Jet," Journal of Applied Physics, XXVII, No. 6, (June 1956), pp. 577-582.
- Fassel, W. M., and others. "The Experimental Nature of the Combustion of Metallic Particles," Solid Propellant Rocket Research, ed. Martin Summerfield, New York, Academic Press, 1960.
- Flower, W. D. "The Terminal Velocity of Drops," Proceedings of the Physical Society of London, XL, (1928), pp. 167-176.

NUC TP 4589

- Folger, B. B., and R. V. Kleinschmidt. "Spray Drying," Industrial and Engineering Chemistry, XXX, No. 12, (December 1938), pp. 1372-1384.
- Friedman, R., and A. Macek. "Combustion Studies of Single Aluminum Particles," Ninth International Symposium on Combustion, ed. The Combustion Institute. New York, Academic Press, 1963.

- Gilbert, M., J. Allport, and R. Dunlap. "Dynamics of Two-Phase Flow in Rocket Nozzles," ARS Journal, XXXII, (December 1962), pp. 1929-1930.
- Gilbert, M., L. Davis, and D. Altman. "Velocity Lag of Particles in Linearly Accelerated Combustion Gases," Jet Propulsion, XXV, (January 1955), pp. 26-30.
- Glassman, Irvin. "Combustion of Metals: Physical Considerations," Solid Propellant Rocket Research, ed. Martin Summerfield. New York, Academic Press, 1960.
- Gordon, Derek A. "Combustion Characteristics of Metal Powders," Solid Propellant Rocket Research, ed. Martin Summerfield. New York, Academic Press, 1960.
- Graves, C. C., and D. W. Bahr. "Basic Considerations in the Combustion of Hydrocarbon Fuels with Air. Chapter 1: Atomization and Evaporization of Liquid Fuels," NACA Technical Report 1300.
- Greene, E. F., and J. P. Toennies. Chemische Reaktionen in Stosswellen. Darmstadt, Steinkopf, 1959.
- Gunn, R. "Mechanical Resonance in Freely Falling Raindrops," Journal of Geophysical Research, LIV, pp. 383-385.
- Gunn, R., and G. D. Kinzer. "The Terminal Velocity of Falls for Water Droplets in Stagnant Air," Journal of Meteorology, VI, (August 1949), pp. 243-248.
- Hall, A. R. "Experimental Temperature Gradients in Burning Drops," Seventh International Symposium on Combustions, ed. The Combustion Institute. London, Butterworth Scientific Publications, 1959.
- Hanson, A. R., E. C. Domich, and H. S. Adams. "An Experimental Investigation of Impact and Shock Wave Break-up of Liquid Drops," Report 125, Rosemont Aeronautical Laboratory, University of Michigan, November 15, 1955.
- Herzfeld, K. F. Relaxation Phenomena in Gases, Vol. 1: Hi-Speed Aerodynamics and Jet Propulsion. Princeton, Princeton University Press, 1953.

- Hoffman, J. E., and S. A. Lorenc. A Parametric Study of Gas-Particle Flows in Conical Nozzles. Report Prepared at Jet Propulsion Center, Purdue University, Lafayette, Indiana.
- Hinze, J. O. "Fundamentals of the Hydrodynamic Mechanism of Splitting in Dispersion Processes," AIChE Journal, I, No. 3, (September 1955), pp. 289-295.
- Hirschfelder, J. R., C. F. Curtis, and R. B. Bird. Molecular Theory of Gases and Liquids. New York, Wiley and Co., 1954.
- Roenig, S. A. "Acceleration of Dust Particles by Shock Waves," Journal of Applied Physics, XXVIII, (1957), pp. 1218-1219.
- Hoglund, Richard F. "Recent Advances in Gas-Particle Nozzle Flows," ARS Journal, XXXII, (May 1962), pp. 662-671.
- Kane, E D. "Sphere Drag Data at Supersonic Speeds and Low Reynolds Numbers," Journal of the Aeronautical Sciences, XVIII, (April 1951), pp. 259-270.
- Kinzer, G. D., and R. Gunn. "The Evaporation, Temperature, and Thermal Relaxation Time of Freely Falling Waterdrops," Journal of Meteorology, VIII, (April 1951), pp. 71-73.
- Kliegel, J. R. "Gas Particle Nozzle Flows," Ninth International Symposium on Combustion, ed. The Combustion Institute. New York, Academic Press, 1963.
- Kriebel, A. R. Analysis of Normal Shock Waves in Particle Laden Gas ASME Paper 63-WA-13.
- Kuehn, Dr. "Atomization of Liquid Fuels, Part I," NACA Technical Memorandum 329, (September 1925).
- Kuehn, Dr. "Aromization of Liquid Fuels, Part II," NACA Technical Memorandum 329, (September 1925).
- Kuehn, Dr. "Atomization of Liquid Fuels, Part III," NACA Technical Memorandum 329, (September 1925).
- Lee, D. W., and R. C. Spencer. "Photomicrographic Studies of Fuel Sprays," NACA Technical Report 454.
- Lewis, B., and G. Von Elbe. Combustion Flames, and Explosions. New York, Academic Press, 1951.
- Lewis, H. C., and others. "Atomization of Liquids in High Velocity Gas Streams," Industrial and Engineering Chemistry, XL, No. 1, (January 1948), pp. 67-74.

- Lewis, O. J. "The Instability of Liquid Surfaces When Accelerated in a Direction Perpendicular to Their Planes II," Proceedings at Royal Society of London, CCII, (1950), pp. 81-95.
- Longwell, J. P. "Combustion of Liquid Fuels," Combustion Processes, Princeton, Princeton University Press, 1956.
- Lyon, Richará J. (ed.) Liquid Metals Handbook. (Office of Naval Research, Second Edition-Revised) Washington, D.C., U. S. Government Printing Office, 1954.
- Lype, Eric F. One-Dimensional Analysis of Non-Isentropic Two-Phase Flow. A Report Prepared for the American Rocket Society Solid Propellant Conference, Feb. 1-3, 1961 at Salt Lake City, Utah. New York, American Rocket Society, 1961.
- Magano, C. "On the Shape of Water Drops Falling in Stagnant Air," Journal of Meteorology, XI, (February 1954), pp. 77-79.
- Markstein, George H. "Combustion of Mecals," AIAA Journal, I, No. 3, pp. 550~562.
- May, A., and W. i Witt, Jr. "Free Flight Determinations of the Drag Coefficient f Spheres." Journal of the Aeronautical Sciences, XX, (Septe --r 1953), pp. 635-638.
- Mayer, Ernest. "Theory of Atomization in High-Velocity Gas Streams," ARS Journal, XXXI, (December 1961), pp. 1783-1785.
- McAlevey, R. F., III, P. L. Cowan, and M. Summerfield. "The Mechanism of Ignition of Composite Solid Propellants by Hot Gases," Solid Propellant Rocket Research, ed. Martin Summerfield. New York, Academic Press, 1960.
- McCarty, K. P. "Techniquest for Studying Combustion of Aluminum in Solid Fropellants," Combustion Institute-Western States Section, Paper 62-18, Prepared for Meeting of November 26-27, 1962.
- Middleman, S., and J. Gavis. "Expansion and Contraction of Capillary Jets of Newtonian Fluids. Physics of Fluids, IV. No. 3, (March 1961), pp. 355-359.
- Miesse, C. C. "The Effect of Ambient Pressure Oscillations on the Disintegration and Dispersion of a Liquid let," Jet Propulsion λXV , No. 10, (October 1955), pp. 525-534.
- Morrell. Gerald. "Breakur of Liquid Jets by Transverse Shocks," Eighth International Symposium on Combustion, ed. The Combustion Institute. Baltimore, Williams and Wilkins, 1962.

- Mugele, R. A., and H. D. Evana. "Droplet Size Distribution in Sprays," Industrial and Engineering Chemistry, XLIII, No. 6, (June 1951), pp. 1317-1324.
- Penner, S. S. Chemistry Problems in Jct Propulsion. New York, The McMilla. Co., 1957.
- Reid, R. C., and T. K. Sherwood. The Properties of Gases and Liquids. New York, McGraw-Hill Co., Inc., 1958.
- Rudinger, George. "Experiments on Shock Relaxation in Particle Suspension in a Gas and Preliminary Determination of Particle Drag Coefficients," Multi-Phase Flow Symposium. New York, ASME, 1963.
- Rudinger, George. "Some Properties of Shock Relaxation in Gas Flows Carrying Small Particles," Project SQUID Technical Report No. CAL-87-P. Prepared by Cornell Aeronautical Laboratories.
- Rumscheidt, F. D., and S. G. Maxon. "Particle Motions in Spherical Suspensions; XII, Deformation and Burst of Fluid Drops in Shear and Hyperbolic Flow," Journal of Colloid Science, XVI, (1961), pp. 238-261.
- Scheubel, F. N. "On Atomization in Carburtors," NACA Technical Memorandum 644, (October 1931).
- Schweitzer, P. H. "Mechanism of Disintegration of Liquid Jets," Journal of Applied Physics, VIII, No. 8, (August 1937), pp. 513-521.
- Serafini, J. S. "Impingement of Water Droplets on Wedges and Double-Wedge Airfoils at Supersonic Speeds," NACA Technical Note 1159. 1939.
- Spalaing, D. B. "Theory of Particle Combustion at High Pressures," ARS Journal, XXIX, No. 11, (November 1959), pp. 828-835.
- Spells, K. E. "A Study of Circulation Patterns Within Liquid Drops Moving Through a Liquid," Proceedings of the Physical Society of London, B, LRV, pp. 541-546.
- Squire, H. B. "Investigation of the Instability of a Moving Liquid Film," British Journal of Applied Physics, IV, (June 1953), pp. 167-169.
- Summerfield, Martin (ed.) Solid Propellant Rocket Research. New York, Academic Press, 1960.
- Talley, Claude P. "The Combustion of Elemental Boron," Solid Propellant Socket Research, ed. Martin Summerfield, New York, Academic Press, 1960.

•7

- Taylor, G. D. "The Shape and Acceleration of a Drop in High Speed Air Flow," Ptn 1600/5278/47, Chemical Defence Experimental Establishment, Great Britain, 1956.
- Torobin, L. B., and W. H. Gauvin. "The Drag Coefficients of Single Spheres Moving in Steady and Accelerated Motion in a Turbulent Fluid," AIChE Journal, VII, No. 4, (December 1961), 615 ff.
- Watermeier, L. A., W. P. Aungst, and S. P. Pfoff. "An Experimental Study of the Aluminum Additive Role in Unstable Combustion of Solid Rocket Propellants," Ninth International Symposium on Combustion, ed. The Combustion Institute. New York, Academic Press, 1963.
- Wieber, P. R. "Calculated Temperature Histories of Vaporizing Droplets to Critical Points," AIAA Journal, J. No. 12, (December 1963), pp. 2764-2770.
- Wood, Bernard J., Willis A. Rosser. Jr., and Henry Wise. "Combustion of Fuel Droplets," AIAA Journal, J. No. 5, pp. 1076-1081.
- Wood, William A "Metal Combustion in Deflagrating Propellant," Selid Propellant Rocket Research, ed. Martin Summerfield, New York, Academic Press, 1960.
- York, J. L., H. E. Stubbs, and M. R. Tek. "The Mechanism of Disintegration of Liquid Sheets," Transactions of the ASM, LXXV, No. 7, (October 1953), pp. 1279-1286.
- Young, C. B. F., and K. W. Coons. Surface Active Agents. Brooklyn, Chemical Publishing Company, Inc., 1945.
- Zenz, F. A., and D. F. Othmer. Fluidization and Fluid Particle Systems. New York, Reinhold, 1960.

| DOCUM | ENT CONTROL DATA - R & D | |
|--|--|--|
| Security classification of little holds of the field. GINA TING ACT VITY (Corporate author) | a findexing an atom of the more fishers the second report of | s classified. |
| aval Weapons Center | UNCLASSIFIED | |
| hina Lake, California 93555 | · · · · · | |
| POHT 1 T L | | |
| . Literature Review and Discussio | on of Liquid Particle Breakup in Cas St | reams |
| SCRIPTIVE NOTES (T)p- of report and mel a securit | | |
| THOR SIFFICT name, middle now last num. Ictor G. Forsnes and Richard D. | Virich | |
| PCAT ~ A'(| | • • |
| ULY 1908 | 48 3 | <u> </u> |
| N123-(60530)51867A | NWC TP 4589 | |
| | POTHER RESOLTING ST AND THEFT INTER TH | at <i>n</i> i ee |
| | None | |
| THIS DOCUMENT IS SUBJECT TO SPECIAL GOVERNMENTS OR FOREIGN NATIONALS M WEAPONS CENTER. | EXPORT CONTROLS AND EACH TRANSMITTAL TO FORE AY BE MADE ONLY WITH PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE NAV | IGN AL |
| IST OLDUTION STATIMENT THIS DOCUMENT IS SUBJECT TO SPECIAL GOVERNMENTS OR FOREIGN NATIONALS M WEAPONS CEPTER. | EXPORT CONTROLS AND EACH TRANSMITTAL TO FORE AY BE MADE ONLY WITH PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE NAV Naval Air Systems Command Washington, D.C. 20360 | IGN AL |
| THIS DOCUMENT IS SUBJECT TO SPECIAL GOVERNMENTS OR FOREIGN NATIONALS M WEAPONS CEPTER. | EXPORT CONTROLS AND EACH TRANSMITTAL TO FORE AY BE MADE ONLY WITH PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE NAV Naval Air Systems Command Washington, D.C. 20360 at breakup in gas streams moving with r in surveyed and reviewed. This report hanisms followed by an annotated bibli duded also is a general list of reference | elative contains ography nces |

とういうななななななないなどのないので

Construction of the second second

UNCLASSIFIED a streation

ACCULATE RANGE

| 14 | LINK A | | LINKS | | LINK C | |
|-------------------------|--------|----------|----------|---|--------|---|
| KEY WORDS | ROLE | w 7 | ROLE | | ROLE | - |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| DATUDDODC | | | | | | |
| KAINDRUPS | | | | | | |
| DIGULA LANITOPE DEFUNC | | | | | | |
| REVNOLDS NUMBER | | | | | | |
| STROUHAL NUMBER | | | | | | |
| ATOMIZATION OF DROPS | | | | | | |
| DROPLETS | | | | | | |
| DISINTEGRATION OF DROPS | | | | | | |
| AIR SHOCK | | | | | | |
| GAS STREAMS | | | | | | |
| VISCOSITY | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | 1 | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | ļ | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | i | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | ļ | | | |
| | | 1 | | | | |
| | ĺ | | ļ | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | { | | | | |
| | | ļ | | | | |
| | | | 1 | | | |
| | ļ | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | ĺ | i | | | | |
| | | [| | | 1 | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | Ì | | | | |
| | ł | | | | | |
| | į | } | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| UU (NOT 14 /3 (BACK) | 1 | INCLAS | SIFIED | | | |
| (PAGE 2) - | | Security | Classifi | | | |